VIRULENCE FACTORS OF THE GROUP A STREPTOCOCCI AND GENES THAT REGULATE THEIR **EXPRESSION**

Wayne Hynes

Department of Biological Sciences, Old Dominion University, Norfolk, VA 23529-0266

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Abstract

- 2. Introduction
 - 2.1. Group A streptococci
 - 2.2. Streptococcal diseases 2.3. Genomic sequencing
- 3. Virulence Factors

3.1. Cell-associated factors

- 3.1.1. M-protein superfamily 3.1.1.1. M-protein
 - - 3.1.1.2. Emm-like proteins

 - 3.1.1.2.1. Immunoglobulin binding proteins 3.1.1.2.2. Non M-related immunoglobulin binding proteins
 - 3.1.1.2.3. Collagen binding protein
- 3.1.2. C5a peptidase
- 3.1.3. Hyaluronic acid capsule
- 3.1.4. Fibronectin binding proteins
 - 3.1.4.1. Protein F

 - 3.1.4.2. SfbII 3.1.4.3. PrtF2
 - 3.1.4.4. Fbp54
 - 3.1.4.5. Pfbp
 - 3.1.4.6. FbaA
 - 3.1.4.7. FbaB
- 3.1.5. Streptococcal protective antigen
- 3.1.6. Heme-binding proteins
- 3.1.7. HtrA protease
- 3.1.8. Protein G-related alpha₂-M-binding protein
- 3.1.9. Streptococcal collagen-like surface protein 3.1.10. Lipoprotein of S. pyogenes 3.1.11. CD15s-related antigen

- 3.1.12. Plasmin(ogen) binding proteins
- 3.1.13 Serum opacity factor 3.2. Released extracellular virulence factors
 - *3.2.1. Cysteine protease*
 - 3.2.2. Streptokinase 3.2.3. DNases

 - 3.2.4. Superantigens or pyrogenic exotoxins
 - 3.2.5. Streptococcal inhibitor of complement
 - 3.2.6. Streptolysins

 - 3.2.6.1. Streptolysin O 3.2.6.2. Streptolysin S
 - 3.2.7. Immunogenic secreted protein
 - 3.2.8. Immunoglobulin G-degrading enzyme
 - 3.2.9. Hyaluronidases
 - 3.2.9.1. Chromosomally encoded hyaluronate lyase 3.2.9.2. Bacteriophage encoded hyaluronate lyase

 - 3.2.9.3. Spy1600
 - 3.2.9.4. Neuraminidase
 - 3.2.10. CAMP factor
- 4. Regulation of Virulence Factors
 - 4.1. ČovR/CovS
 - 4.2. FasBCAX
 - 4.3. *Ihk/Irr*
 - 4.4. Mga
 - 4.5. Rgg
 - 4.6. RALPs
 - 4.6.1. rofA
 - 4.6.2. nra
 - 4.7. Sag/Pel
 - 4.8. RelA-independent regulation
 - 4.9. RocA
- 5. Summary and perspective
- 6. References

1. ABSTRACT

Group A streptococci produce a wide variety of extracellular (cell-associated and released) virulence factors. The function of these factors varies and includes roles in adhesion, spreading, tissue destruction, immune system evasion, and cell toxicity. How these factors are regulated with regard to one another is important for this organism's ability to bring about the variety of diseases this microbe is capable of causing. Therefore, along with the multitude of virulence factors, there are a number of regulatory systems that regulate, either directly or indirectly, the production of these factors and therefore influence the pathogenesis of group A streptococcal infections.

2. INTRODUCTION

Group A streptococci (Streptococcus pyogenes) have an extensive arsenal of virulence factors, comparable to or exceeding that of many other pathogenic microorganisms. The virulence factors include those that are extracellular (e.g. protease, streptokinase, etc.), in that they are released from the cell, as well as cell associated factors (e.g. M-protein, hyaluronic acid capsule, etc.). How these proteins are secreted is still unknown in many instances, although the streptococci have a variety of secretion mechanisms. Some of the factors involved in secretion and maturation of proteins, in particular SpeB, are beginning to be examined. Factors found to be involved include trigger factor (1) and HtrA, a DegP ortholog (2). Recently, it has been shown that secretion by the general (Sec) secretory pathway occurs through a single microdomain, known as the ExPortal, in the cell membrane dedicated to protein export (3). Another mechanism involves the direct transfer of material from the bacterial cell to the cytoplasm of a host cell using cytolysinmediated translocation (4).

Discussion of many of the virulence factors here is limited to information gained over the past few years to avoid repeating information provided in other reviews (5-7). Also discussed are proteins that regulate the virulence factors of this organism. Many unanswered questions remain regarding the virulence and pathogenesis of group A streptococci and the various diseases this organism causes. To cause disease the organism has to be able to become established in a host, avoid destruction by the host immune response, and then either by design or 'accident' have a particular adverse effect on the host ranging from inflammation ('strep' throat) to tissue destruction (necrotizing fasciitis) and various stages in between.

2.1. Group A streptococci

Group A streptococci are beta-hemolytic, gram positive, catalase negative, chain-forming, extracellular cocci that colonize the throat and skin of their host, and are often considered the most pathogenic member of the genus *Streptococcus*. Streptococci were first differentiated on the basis of hemolytic activity (8). Subsequently the presence of a specific carbohydrate in the cell wall allowed for further division into groups (9). Sherman divided the streptococci into 4 divisions, one of which was the pyogenic division that includes those with the group A antigen (10). Additional differentiation of group A streptococcal strains was accomplished by serological typing using the M-protein (11). Over the years since the development of the M-typing scheme the number of types has risen to more than 80 with the inclusion of new and provisional M-types (12). Recently, molecular typing methods have been developed based on the sequence of the emm allele (12-14), a method that closely parallels the serotyping scheme. Such genetic typing has added additional types, such that there are now 124 different emm types recognized (12). Because of the chance of variation between the different schemes, the terms "M-types" and "emm types" are used to signify the serotype and emm sequence typing respectively (12).

With the large number of types (serological or *emm*) of organisms, investigators have, over the years, looked for different ways to classify these important organisms; but so far no method has been totally satisfactory. Other schemes for typing have included T-typing (15, 16), disease association (rheumatogenic vs. nephritic) (17, 18), location (skin vs throat) (19, 20), and opacity factor (presence and type) (21, 22), as well as a number of molecular techniques (23-27).

2.2 Streptococcal diseases

S. pvogenes causes a wide variety of diseases, the pathogenesis of which have been reviewed by Cunningham (5), and will not be addressed here. The severity of disease ranges from mild to severe and include "strep throat", impetigo/pyoderma, scarlet fever, streptococcal toxic shock, septicemia, necrotizing fasciitis, the delayed sequelae of rheumatic fever and glomerulonephritis, and streptococcal reactive arthritis (5). In addition, streptococcal infections have been linked to obsessivecompulsive disorder and Tourette's syndrome (28-30). Other diseases that have also been linked to group A streptococcal infections include pneumonia (31) and endophthalmitis (32). Although most streptococcal infections are the result of inhalation or direct contact, occasionally this organism has caused outbreaks of pharyngitis following ingestion of contaminated foods (33, 34). This wide array of diseases and multiple mechanisms of spread indicate a very complex organism that has the ability to survive and become established in various host sites. It also suggests the need for not only the coordinated expression of the multiple virulence factors but also the ability to switch phenotypes as the organism responds to different environmental cues.

2.3. Genomic sequencing

The complete genomic sequence of a *S. pyogenes* strain was deciphered in 2001 (35). The strain sequenced was a M-type 1 strain; since then complete genome sequences have been determined for one M-type 18 strain and two M-type 3 strains (36-38). The sequence of a M-type 5 strain is nearing completion (http://www.sanger.ac.uk/Projects/S_pyogenes). The availability of such sequence information has changed the approach to the study of pathogenic mechanisms and

virulence factors. We now recognize potential virulence factors, or at least genes that encode factors that could aid in the establishment or maintenance of a disease state. The genomic approach has indicated many proteins thought to be virulence factors based on their similarity to proteins produced by other organisms. In many instances it is not known if the streptococci produce these proteins or if they have the predicted activity. One of the ways in which the sequence availability has affected pathogenesis studies is by the simultaneous examination of multiple genes, using techniques such as microarrays, rather than by studying individual genes or gene products. This approach allows an examination of the coordinate expression of multiple genes, and therefore virulence factors, as well as a comparison of gene expression in different strains (39-42). By examining multiple genes on a genome-wide scale a more complete picture of gene expression, and therefore pathogenesis, will become apparent. The various genomic-scale approaches have shown that there are still many unanswered questions, both at a general as well as at a specific factor level (41). Many studies on bacterial factors have been conducted independently of the host and these new methods provide tools that allow the direct study of interactions between the bacterium and the host. New methods will also allow for both qualitative and quantitative analysis of in vivo gene transcription (43), and give us advantages in understanding microbe-host relationships.

Within the published genomes, variation in gene content and allelic diversity is observed; common coding regions between the different strains range from 88 to 93.2% (35-38). The genomes of the strains from the different serotypes vary in size (1,852,442 to 1,900,521 bp) and at least part of this difference is due to the presence or absence of bacteriophages. These phages or phage-like elements may actually account for much of the variation seen in the gene content of the different strains. The presence of different bacteriophages may also affect virulence of the organism, since phages are known to encode different virulence factors (36-38). Chimeric phages in S. progenes may result in different mixtures of toxins, or other genes, being introduced into different strains. Such phages could change disease frequency or severity, or even generate new M-protein serotypes (38). A number of different potential virulence factors are encoded for by the bacteriophages, particularly the superantigen or superantigen-like proteins (36, 38). Other potential virulence factors encoded for by bacteriophages are hyaluronidases (35) and a phospholipase A_2 (38). The role of these bacteriophage genes and their products is unknown. However, it should be noted that co-culture of streptococcal cells with pharyngeal cells resulted in induction of lysogenic bacteriophages and expression of various phage proteins (44, 45). Such induction would alter the potential virulence factors produced by the cell, suggesting a role for phage proteins in bacterial pathogenesis.

At the regulatory level, genomic analysis has indicated that group A streptococci have at least 13 two component regulatory systems and more than 36 transcriptional factors, with most being common to the different strains (36). Some of these regulators have been assigned functions, while for others the function remains to be determined. The location and sequence of the genes encoding these regulators varies within the chromosome (36), indicating plasticity of the genome that may be responsible for at least some of the variation in virulence seen between strains of *S. pyogenes*.

Although considerable progress has been made in determining which factors affect virulence, and how these factors are regulated, at both the global and specific level, much still remains to be determined. This review will summarize information on the various virulence factors and then discuss the various regulators that have been shown to influence production or expression of these factors.

3. VIRULENCE FACTORS

For the purpose of this review, virulence factors are defined as those factors or agents that allow an organism to become established in a host or to maintain the disease state once an infection has been established. This definition therefore includes those factors responsible for activities ranging from adherence of the organism to appropriate tissue, to those that cause tissue damage or destruction. Many of these factors have only been studied in vitro, independent of the host; therefore some of this information may change as the role of the host in disease pathogenesis is fully examined. The virulence factors have been grouped into two broad categories; those that remain predominantly cell associated and those that are secreted and released from the cell. Rather than discuss all the literature pertaining to these agents, this review will concentrate on recent information. For background and more in-depth analysis of the numerous streptococcal virulence factors the reader is directed to the several reviews and publications that cover these topics (5-7, 46-49)

3.1. Cell-associated virulence factors

Many of the virulence factors expressed by Group A streptococci are cell-associated, being either loosely or firmly attached to the cell wall of the bacterium. These cell associated factors play a role in adhesion (e.g. collagen binding proteins, fibronectin binding proteins, lipoproteins, plasminogen binding proteins), a critical step in the establishment of a streptococcal infection or following establishment of the organism, a role in evasion of the host immune response (e.g. M-protein, Emm-like proteins, C5a peptidase, hyaluronic acid capsule, CD15srelated antigen). Whether these factors only play a role in bacterial virulence, or perhaps have some other role for the cell is still to be determined.

3.1.1. M-protein superfamily

Perhaps the best known of the group A streptococcal virulence factors is the M-protein. This protein is one of a group of proteins that make up the M-protein superfamily; all have a similar structure and bind a wide range of host proteins, but differ in a number of important properties. The genes for the M-protein family are flanked by the regulator gene *mga* at the 5' end, and the

C5a peptidase gene (scpA) at the 3'end (50). The scpA gene (see below) is not a member of the M-protein superfamily, although it is regulated by mga. Members of this family, of which there are more than 20 genes, have a conserved cell-associated portion of the molecule. This region or domain consists of domain H that may anchor the protein to the membrane, the peptidoglycan domain, and the cell wall-associated domain (50, 51).

3.1.1.1. M-protein

The gene, protein structure, and antiphagocytic properties of M-protein have been known for some time and have been extensively reviewed elsewhere (5, 6, 52, 53). The M-protein consists of a dimer of two polypeptides arranged in a coiled-coil structure that is held in the cell membrane by the LPSTGE anchor motif (5, 6, 52, 53). The molecule consists of 4 repeat regions (A, B, C and D), and a proline/glycine rich region most likely located in the peptidoglycan layer of the cell. The N-terminal portion of the molecule (A repeats) is hypervariable and confers serotype specificity. To date, 124 M-genotypes have been recognized (12). Antibodies to the variable region confer type-specific immunity following an infection. However, within certain M-types protective immunity is strainspecific rather than serotype-specific (54). This may be due to distinct subpopulations of bacteria within a serotype (55, 56), perhaps giving the organisms a survival advantage; when the immune response recognizes the parent strain, these variants are able to avoid phagocytosis. Another observed variation within serotypes is the size of the Mprotein. The variation is due to changes in the number of repeat units in the A and B portions of the M-protein molecule (53, 57), or other types of mutational effects (58, 59).

Since anti-M-protein antibodies are protective, the protein has been considered a likely candidate as a vaccine (60, 61), although development of such a vaccine comes with risk. Antibodies against M-protein, while being protective, are also able to react with host tissue (5, 62-65) and probably play a role in the development of rheumatic fever. Until these cross-reactivity problems can be addressed, the use of M-protein as a streptococcal vaccine will remain questionable. Alternative strategies for vaccine development would be to use a vaccine against the variable region of multiple serotypes, rather than a conserved region of all serotypes. Such a strategy may be just as difficult as trying to avoid the host cross-reactivity, because of the variability seen among M-proteins.

The important function of M-protein, for group A streptococci, is its antiphagocytic ability, resulting from interference with opsonization (6). Various mechanisms for the ability to inhibit phagocytosis have been reported, but all are associated with the ability of the protein to bind host proteins (5, 6), although not all M-proteins appear to do so equally (66). Binding of the complement regulatory protein H and binding of fibrinogen to M-protein inhibits opsonic function (67). Fibrinogen binding also leads to plasminogen binding, which is in turn activated by streptokinase to active plasmin (68). A set of skin strains was shown to express M-proteins that have a high affinity

for binding plasminogen (69). The plasminogen could form a cell-bound complex with streptokinase that would act as a plasminogen activator; the plasmin would provide a surface associated protease that could degrade barriers designed to limit bacterial spread and in doing so this could facilitate bacterial spread (69). A factor H-like protein (FHL-1) and human C4b-binding protein also binds to M-protein; the effect of binding of these proteins would be to impede phagocytosis (70, 71). Binding of IgA and C4b-binding protein by the M22 protein conferred resistance to phagocytosis (72). M-protein also binds kininogen, and releases the vasoactive peptide bradykinin (73, 74). The streptococcal cysteine proteinase has also been shown to release active kining from kiningen (75); perhaps the binding by M-protein allows for the cleavage of the precursor by the protease with release of the active component. The exact mechanism(s) by which all of these proteins bind and interfere with the host response to the pathogen is still unclear. The local release of bradykinin in potentially large amounts could lead to increased vascular permeability with the leakage of plasma. This effect may aid in the spread of the organism. In addition it could explain some of the symptoms associated with streptococcal infections such as fever, pain, edema, and in severe cases hypovolaemic shock (74). The binding, activation, spreading, and antiphagocytic effects of these proteins probably occur at different times or in different tissues during an infection, again adding to the diverse nature of streptococcal virulence factors. M-protein is also involved in the binding of glycosaminoglycans such as dermatan sulfate and heparan sulfate. Full binding of the glycosaminoglycans requires both the amino terminal portion and C-repeat region of the M-protein (76). The effect of binding these sugar derivatives would be to aid in bacterial adherence to human cells, in particular epithelial cells and skin fibroblasts. Recently, M3 protein has been shown to be involved in both adherence and internalization (77). Inactivation of the emm3 gene resulted in decreased adherence and internalization, an effect that could be reversed by augmentation with fibronectin (77), indicating the effect of fibronectin is not related to intact M3 protein.

Recently it has been found that inactivation of the sagA gene (required for streptolysin S production, see below) results in a reduction in the amount of cell associated M-protein (78). The effect of the sag locus was not at the level of transcription, but on localization of the protein to the bacterial cell surface. This was most likely by loss of the anchoring domain or perhaps by cleavage of the M-protein by a protease that is normally repressed by sagA (78).

3.1.1.2. Emm-like proteins

Members of the M-protein gene superfamily include the M-proteins, M-related proteins and the immunoglobulin binding proteins that possess antiphagocytic or immunoglobulin binding properties. Members of this family of proteins are structurally similar, particularly in the domains associated with the cell wallassociated region. A more in depth discussion of the overall structural aspects of these proteins is provided in previous reviews (5, 6, 50).

3.1.1.2.1. Immunoglobulin binding proteins

Cunningham described the immunoglobulin binding proteins of group A streptococci as being encoded for by M-protein or M-like protein genes which are controlled by Mga (5). It has been proposed that the heterogeneous family of immunoglobulin binding proteins and M-proteins are variants of a common molecule that has been duplicated from an ancestral gene (5, 50). The immunoglobulin binding proteins are classified based on the type of immunoglobulin (IgG or IgA) they bind, as well as the subclass of the immunoglobulin (5, 50). A number of proteins have been identified that bind IgG and belong to the M-protein superfamily, although there is doubt over the classification and function of the immunoglobulin binding proteins. A more in depth analysis of the M-protein like immunoglobulin binding proteins is found in earlier reviews (5, 50).

The function of the immunoglobulin binding proteins in bacterial virulence remains unclear. Inactivation of M-related genes, in particular those associated with IgG binding, resulted in loss of virulence in skin infections, but not following intraperitoneal injection (79). Recently, a model describing the role of IgA binding in virulence was proposed. In this model, binding of the Fc portion of IgA to the binding protein interferes with IgA effector functions, allowing the bacterium to evade elimination by processes that would normally occur when IgA binds to Fcalpha receptor CD89 on phagocytic cells (80).

3.1.1.2.2. Non M-related immunoglobulin binding proteins

Two non M-related immunoglobulinbinding proteins produced by group A streptococci have been described. However, the role, if any, in pathogenesis or virulence remains to be determined. The first, SbfI, is an IgG binding protein, which is also a fibrinogen binding protein (81). SbfI bound IgG isotypes 1- 4 with the binding being mediated through the Fc portion of the molecule.

The second non M-protein-like immunoglobulin binding protein is a secreted immunoglobulin binding protein that binds IgG, IgM and IgA (82). Binding is through either the Fc or Fab fragments, with a preference for the Fc fragment. The gene (sibA) is found in most strains of *S. pyogenes* from a variety of types. The deduced protein has a signal peptide but no membrane-anchoring region, confirming its secreted status (82). Of interest was the observation that the protein is analogous to a protein involved in cell wall separation in group B streptococci, perhaps indicating SibA is a multifunctional protein (82). The role in pathogenesis is unknown, but its widespread occurrence in various types suggests it has some important or essential function.

3.1.1.2.3. Collagen binding protein

A collagen binding protein has been identified as a possible adhesin for group A streptococci, using collagen on the host cell as the receptor molecule (83). The authors described a 57 kDa soluble form of a collagen receptor, which specifically bound the four types of collagen tested (83). However, no evidence for the role of this protein in virulence has been forthcoming. The sequence of the collagen binding protein reported by Visai et al (83) is almost identical to an IgG binding protein reported by Boyle et al (84). That protein size was 59.7 kDa, close to the size reported for the collagen binding protein. Searching available genomic databases for the sequence of the IgG binding proteins with similarity to the collagen binding protein indicated similarity with the M-protein gene. These results suggest that the collagen binding protein may have, at one time, been part of the streptococcal M-protein family. Recently, it was shown that M-type 3 and M-type 18 S. pyogenes strains isolated during a rheumatic fever outbreak were able to bind and aggregate collagen (85). Binding of collagen to the M-type 3 strains was found to be via the M-protein, while for the M-type 18 it was via binding to the capsule. These results show yet another function of the M-protein and capsule of these strains, and suggest an important role for collagen binding in streptococcal infections.

3.1.2. C5a peptidase

C5a peptidase (scpA) is a surface-associated endopeptidase that is specific for the complement component C5a (86). Examination of the 3' terminus of scpA genes from different serotypes of group A streptococci revealed differences in the size of the gene. This variation results from changes in the number of repeat units found in the gene (87), ranging from three to six. The function of ScpA in virulence may be to act on and destroy C5a, thereby eliminating the chemotactic signal from the site of infection (49, 86, 88) and protecting the organism from immune detection. However, the exact role and importance in virulence is difficult to ascertain. Husmann et al suggested that the contribution of C5a peptidase might be strain dependent as they were unable to find a difference between mutant and wild type strains in their ability to colonize the throat or to cause pneumonia in mice (89). Evidence that C5a peptidase plays a role in virulence includes the increased clearance from subdermal infection sites and nasopharyngeal mucosa in scpA mutants and a strong antibody response to the protein in adults but not in uninfected children (88, 90, 91). This later response may, in part, explain why children are more susceptible to streptococcal infections than adults.

3.1.3. Hyaluronic acid capsule

Group A streptococci produce a capsule, the sole component of which is hyaluronic acid. A number of functions for the capsule have been proposed. One of the early proposed roles was to protect the organism from toxic oxygen metabolites by shielding the organism from oxygen by creating a barrier around the cell (92). However, more important functions of the capsule are its role in colonization, phagocytic killing, and infection (89, 93-96). The capsule is involved in attachment to receptors on epithelial cells by binding to CD44, a hyaluronate-binding protein (97); such binding can induce cytoskeleton changes which can lead to cellular invasion (98). Strains lacking a capsule, or having some deficiency in production are not as pathogenic as encapsulated strains; however, this can be overcome by streptolysin S activity in a manner that does not appear to involve resistance to phagocytosis (99). Epidemiological studies suggest encapsulated strains are more associated with severe invasive infections and the delayed sequelae of rheumatic fever, while strains associated with uncomplicated streptococcal infections tend not to be encapsulated (6, 100).

Synthesis of the hyaluronic acid capsule is encoded by a three gene operon consisting of hasA, hasB, and hasC (101) which is negatively regulated by the CovR/CovS two component regulatory system (102-104). Of the three genes in the operon, hasA (hyaluronan synthase) and hasB (UDP-glucose dehydrogenase) are sufficient for capsule expression. Inactivation of hasC(UDP-glucose pyrophosphorylase) indicated it is not required for capsule expression (105).

Capsule synthesis is regulated, at least in part by CovR, and therefore is influenced by Mg levels (see regulation section). Increased capsule production is observed at MgCl₂ levels found in human extracellular fluids (106). The same studies showed that at levels of Ca^{2+} found in human extracellular fluids there was an increase in capsule gene expression. These results suggest that capsule expression is enhanced under conditions associated with an infection.

3.1.4. Fibronectin binding proteins

Adherence to host tissue is the first step in establishing an infection. To accomplish this, *S. pyogenes* has a number of genes that encode proteins that could be classified as adhesin molecules. Among these are the surface-associated fibronectin binding proteins, including SfbI or PrtF1, SfbII, PrtF2, Fbp54, and Pfbp (6). Other proteins, such as M-protein and serum opacity factor are also capable of binding fibronectin. On the other hand SpeB, the cysteine proteinase, alters proteins on the streptococcal surface in such a manner that abrogates fibronectin binding (107).

3.1.4.1. Protein F

Protein F (prtF, sfb) has been shown to not only bind fibronectin, but also fibrinogen (108). Binding of these two molecules occurs at different locations on the protein; fibrinogen bound to the N-terminal portion of the molecule, fibronectin to the C-terminal portion. In addition, the protein also binds the Fc segment of IgG using the fibronectin binding domains (81). This binding potentially inhibits antibody-mediated events such as phagocytosis and antibody-dependent cell cytotoxicity (81). Additional evidence for the importance of this gene in virulence comes from the high incidence of occurrence of the *prt*F gene in clinical isolates. In a study of clinical isolates from Japanese children the gene was present in 77.3% of isolates (109). Sequence variation is seen among the different prtF genes, with most of the variation occurring in the amino terminal domain of the protein. The 3' end of the gene was more conserved, varying in the numbers of proline-rich and fibronectin-binding repeats (110). Despite the variation, the overall structural properties of the protein were conserved. However, the variability may suggest a selective pressure *in vivo* with implications for streptococcal pathogenesis (110).

Immunization (intranasal) studies in mice show that a response to PrtF provides protection from intranasal challenge with heterologous strains of *S. pyogenes* (111). Both the humoral and cellular immune responses were stimulated following vaccination. Such a response suggests Prtf could be a useful candidate for an anti-*S. pyogenes* vaccine. Epitopes recognized by B- and T-cells were found to be clustered in a 30 amino acid fragment of the fibronectin-binding repeats, suggesting this region as a candidate for use in polyepitope-based vaccines (112).

Another role of PrtF in pathogenesis is in the binding and/or adherence of S. pyogenes to epithelial cells (113-115). Adherence to epithelial cells is environmentally regulated with repression of protein F expression during growth under reduced oxygen concentrations. Expression of protein F is positively regulated by RofA, a regulatory protein that has both positive and negative affects on the expression of other virulence factors (116, 117). Also, expression appears to be inversely related to M-protein expression; conditions favoring M-protein expression repress expression of protein F (118). In addition to enhancing the binding of the streptococci to epithelial cells, the fibronectin-binding protein also appears to play a role in invasion of eukaryotic cells (119-121). Interestingly, the region of the protein involved in attachment is different from that portion which triggers bacterial cell internalization. Internalization of streptococcal cells, however, is not limited to the use of fibronectin-binding protein, as clinical isolates lacking this protein have been shown to invade non-phagocytic cells (122). Removal of protein F, by the action of the streptococcal proteinase SpeB, results in reduced internalization of bacterial cells. Addition of plasma proteins did not protect PrtF from the action of SpeB, whereas the M-protein (M-1) and protein H were protected from proteolytic degradation (123). These authors speculated that since SpeB production is dependent on the bacterial nutritional status, then production of protease when nutritionally stressed would result in decreased adhesion and internalization. This would facilitate spread of the organisms (123).

3.1.4.2. SfbII

The *sfb*II gene was identified as a protein that exhibited characteristics of a surface-associated protein that was able to bind fibronectin (124). This protein was both genetically and antigenically distinct from SfbI. Subsequently the protein was found to have apoproteinase activity, thereby classifying it as a serum opacity factor (125).

3.1.4.3. PrtF2

Protein F2 is a fibronectin binding protein found in strains of *S. pyogenes* that lack the *prt*F1 gene, but still binds fibronectin. As with the other fibronectin binding proteins, protein F2 most likely plays a role in the adherence of the organism to epithelial cells and perhaps internalization. The protein has two fibronectin binding domains with each able to bind fibronectin independently of the other (126). Protein F2 production is regulated by Nra (127), and in a manner similar to the effect seen with protein F (118, 128), PrtF2 is expressed in response to alterations in the concentration of atmospheric oxygen (126). Since *nra* transcription appears to be unaffected by aeration conditions (127), the regulation of the fibronectin binding proteins by oxygen levels must be by some other as yet unknown regulatory mechanism. Why fibronectin binding proteins (Protein F and PrtF2) would be regulated by oxygen levels is unknown, but it may represent a mechanism by which expression would aid in adherence and internalization by epithelial cells. Such a mechanism would also explain why increased PrtF2 expression, and hence fibronectin binding, by a Nra mutant was found to result in increased adherence and internalization rates of bacterial cells compared with wild type S. pyogenes (120). As these results were obtained from a study using a nra mutant, it was not possible to determine whether the effect was due to changes in protein F2 expression or some other factor (120) as other virulence factors also showed increased expression in the nra mutant strain, including SpeA, SpeB and SLS (120). These factors could potentially affect the results of adherence/internalization assays. However, some of these proteins are more likely to have an effect on host cell death rather than the adherence or internalization role proposed. Although as discussed, SpeB plays a role in degrading proteins involved in fibronectin binding and therefore internalization; whether such an effect is seen with PrtF2 was not reported.

3.1.4.4. Fbp54

Fbp54 is a 54 kDa fibronectin binding protein found on the surface of group A streptococci (129). This protein, like protein F, appears to be involved in the binding of streptococcal cells to epithelial cells (130). The protein is expressed in vivo, as determined by the presence of antibodies to the protein in sera of patients with rheumatic fever or glomerulonephritis (130). Fbp54 antibodies were also detected at higher levels in patients with pharyngitis and impetigo than in controls (131). Surface expression and fibronectin binding suggest that like the other fibronectin binding proteins Fbp54 acts as an adhesin for group A streptococci. Additional evidence for the importance of Fbp54 is its presence in all strains tested, from a variety of serological types. Also the sequence of Fbp54 is highly conserved among the various serotypes (131); again, such conservation suggests an important role for the protein.

3.1.4.5. Pfbp

Pfbp is a 127.4 kDa surface attached fibronectin binding protein, attached by a typical gram-positive LPXTGX motif (132). This protein is able to bind both soluble and immobilized fibronectin. The C-terminal region of the molecule is conserved among many of the fibronectin binding proteins, while the 105 amino acid Nterminal portion shows variability from other fibronectin binding proteins (132). The gene encoding Pfbp is found in a variety of *S. pyogenes* serotypes; however it is not present in all serotypes (132). In those strains that contain *pfbp*, transcription of more than one fibronectin binding protein gene (*pfbp* and *prt*F) does occur. However, it is unclear whether both proteins were expressed on the cell surface at the same time or whether both were contributing to the fibronectin binding activity of the strain (132).

3.1.4.6. FbaA

A surface-associated fibronectin binding protein, FbaA (originally reported as Fba), was present in a limited number of M-types of *S. pyogenes*, in particular M-types 1, 2, 4, 22, 28 and 49, but not in other types (133). The fact that Mga regulates the gene points to its importance in the virulence of *S. pyogenes* (133). Inactivation studies indicated that FbaA, along with M-protein, is required for binding of fibronectin, as well as adhesion and invasion. Fibronectin binding does not solely depend on FbaA, since mutants still retain some binding activity (133). In addition, mortality studies following mouse skin infection models indicate that *fba*A contributes to virulence and may be associated with spreading of the organism (133).

3.1.4.7. FbaB

Another fibronectin binding protein gene, designated *fbaB*, was found in all M-types 3 and 18 strains, that do not possess the *fbaA* gene, but not in other serotypes (134). In addition the protein was found to be expressed on the surface of some group A streptococci isolated from toxic-shock like syndrome patients, but not on strains isolated from patients with pharyngitis. Inactivation of the gene resulted in a decrease in fibronectin binding, as well as the ability to adhere to and invade epithelial cells (134). Of note in this study was that SpeB, the cysteine proteinase produced by *S. pyogenes*, cleaved FbaB. The role of this modification in virulence is not clear, but it could contribute to the ability of the organism to evade the host defense system (134) and may increase virulence of the organism.

3.1.5. Streptococcal protective antigen

Streptococcal protective antigen (Spa) is a surface protein produced by M-type 18 group A streptococci that is expressed *in vivo* as determined by the presence of antibodies in sera following an infection (135). This protein, along with the M protein and hyaluronic acid capsule, was required for full expression of virulence in the M-type 18 streptococci (135). The protein has a signal peptide, a membrane anchor, and hydrophilic tail similar to the M-like proteins but it does not have other sequence components found in these proteins (135).

3.1.6. Heme binding proteins

Group A streptococci express a surface protein that associates with heme (136) and heme compounds (137). This protein is expressed on the surface of the cell throughout the exponential and early stationary phases of growth, and is enhanced under iron-restricted conditions. This suggests that heme is an important source of iron for the group A streptococci, and that proteins in the *shp* region may be involved in obtaining and transporting heme into the bacterial cell (136). The *shp* gene is cotranscribed with gene homologues of an ABC transporter involved in iron uptake. Bates *et al* described the same iron acquisition operon, however they included an additional gene, *shr* (streptococcal hemoprotein receptor) (137); this gene preceded *shp* (*spy*1796) in the operon. The genes *spy*1795, spv1794, and spv1793 comprise a three-gene transporter operon designated siaABC. The exact composition and makeup of the components of this operon requires further investigation. of This operon are conserved, being present in strains of M5, M3 and M18, as well as M1 (136). Furthermore, anti-Shp antibodies were capable of inhibiting growth of the organism in vitro (136), indicating the potential for the operon or one of its components to be useful in therapeutic regimens. Still unknown is how these heme-binding proteins are regulated. One possible mechanism may be through the use of regulators involved in iron homeostasis, since heme could act as a source of iron for the cell. Strains in which the peroxidase regulator PerR was inactivated showed a reduction in incorporation of iron (138). Whether this regulator is able to influence expression of heme-binding proteins requires further investigation.

3.1.7. HtrA protease

The DegP protease ortholog HtrA has been reported to be required for full virulence of S. pyogenes. In most gram-negative bacteria DegP is found in the periplasm, however in the case of S. pyogenes it is probably membrane bound, as the htrA gene appears to encode a membrane-spanning region. The exact role of this protein in S. progenes is still unclear, but is required for thermal stability and resistance to oxidative stress (139). A htrA knockout showed reduced virulence. following intraperitoneal injection, in mice with the LD₅₀ for the mutant strain being 35-fold higher than the wild type (139). This suggests a role in virulence of the organism in this assay. However, insertional inactivation mutants were not attenuated in subcutaneous mouse infections (2). Of particular interest in these studies was the observation that the mutants showed other phenotypic changes; the mutant failed to process the SpeB zymogen to an active protease, and there was an overexpression of streptolysin S (2).

3.1.8. Protein G-related alpha₂-M-binding protein

S. pyogenes produces proteolytic enzymes and is often found in environments containing proteolytic enzymes. As such the organism has developed ways to prevent proteolytic degradation of some, but not all, of its virulence factors. Some virulence factors remain susceptible to proteolytic cleavage in order that they can be regulated by the action of various proteases in a manner that removes or decreases the activity of these proteins during the pathogenic process. The human protease inhibitor alpha₂-macroglobulin is bound to the surface of S. pyogenes by the surface protein GRAB (protein G-related alpha₂-M-binding protein) and may be involved in the regulation of proteolytic activity at the streptococcal surface (140). In doing so it would protect important virulence factors from proteolytic degradation by either the streptococcal proteinases or host proteases. Binding of GRAB to the surface of group A streptococci has been shown to require the sortase gene srtA, which is also required for anchoring M-protein, the fibrinogen binding protein F, and C5a peptidase (141). The grab gene is found in most strains of S. pyogenes, and is highly conserved (140), perhaps indicating an important role in virulence of the organism. The ability to bind $alpha_2$ -macroglobulin means that GRAB could also play a role as an adhesion molecule by binding to the $alpha_2$ -macroglobulin on the host cell surface. Virulence studies found that strains in which the *grab* gene was inactivated were attenuated in skin infections (140, 142). The mice infected with the mutant showed less dissemination of the organisms and developed smaller lesions.

3.1.9. Streptococcal collagen-like surface proteins

At least 2 collagen-like surface proteins, Scl1 (SclA) and Scl2, can be produced simultaneously by group A streptococci (143-145). These proteins contain an anchor region, a spacer region, and a collagen-like domain consisting of a variable number of Gly-X-Y triplet amino acids. The bacterial proteins, like human collagen appear to have a triple helix structure (146). The number of repeats in Scl1 varied from 14 to 62, while for Scl2 the repeat number varied from 33 to 116 (144, 145). Size variation was observed both between serotypes as well as within a single serotype (144, 145). The variable region of the molecule, although showing considerable sequence differences, appears to maintain structural similarity, suggesting an important role for the structure in the function of the protein.

The role of these proteins in bacterial virulence is not fully understood but isogenic *scl*1 mutants were less virulent following subcutaneous injection (145). Also, a decrease in the ability of the bacteria to adhere to epithelial cells was observed following *scl*1 inactivation, suggesting that this collagen-like protein may play a role in bacterial adherence.

Further evidence that *scl*1 potentially plays a role in virulence is its control by Mga (143, 145), a global regulator of M-protein and other possible virulence factors. However, *scl*2 is regulated differently, being controlled by the number of CAAAA pentanucleotide repeats located downstream of the GTG start site (144); failure to produce Scl2 is due to premature termination of the gene due to the variable numbers of the repeats. The different modes of regulation may allow for expression of the two collagenlike proteins either simultaneously, or under different conditions in the host.

3.1.10. Lipoprotein of *Streptococcus pyogenes*

Lsp or lipoprotein of *S. pyogenes*, is a surface associated protein found on the surface of cells. The gene (*lsp*) was identified by a genome walking study, which examined the region downstream of the *mga* regulon, and upstream of the dipeptide permease housekeeping gene (147). A similar arrangement of genes to the *lsp* operon has been observed in *S. agalactiae*, and it was proposed that the operon might have been transferred to *S. pyogenes* from a pathogenic *S. agalactiae* by a mobile genetic element (147).

Lsp appears to have a role in matrix glycoprotein interaction and for bacterium-host interactions; however, the exact role of Lsp is difficult to determine. A *lsp* mutant showed less adhesion to eukaryotic cells, at least in part due to the decreased fibronectin binding. The effect on fibronectin binding was not a direct result of the *lsp* mutation, but was affected indirectly through the regulation of the fibronectin binding protein genes, prtF2 and *sof* (147). In addition, inactivated *lsp* mutants have decreased transcriptional rates for three of the important global regulators in *S. pyogenes*, Mga, CovR and Nra. Another important factor that is influenced in the *lsp* mutant is the cysteine protease, SpeB; transcription of this protein is decreased in these mutants (147). This decrease in transcription may be associated with an effect on the appropriate regulator.

3.1.11. CD15s-related antigen

S. pyogenes expresses a number of surface antigens that may act as adhesins. One of these is the surface-associated CD15s-related antigen (148). The CD15s antigen is expressed by neutrophils and monocytes (149) and plays a role in the binding of the leukocytes and monocytes to the vessel wall and therefore passage of these cells through vessel wall into the tissue. Such an effect, with binding of the antigen to the selectin receptor, supports a role for such proteins in streptococcal adherence. It may also suggest a way by which the organism can spread; by binding to appropriate receptors the bacterial cell may result in host changes that allow for dissemination from the site of infection. In addition, expression of an antigen that mimics this immune system antigen may be a means of camouflage such that the bacterium would not be detected. Alternatively the antigen may act as an adhesin molecule. Another possibility is that since CD15s antigen is involved in leukocyte trafficking, maybe the presence of this protein on bacterial cells in some way interferes with this trafficking process. The exact nature of this antigen and any role in the disease process is unknown at this stage.

3.1.12. Plasmin(ogen) binding proteins

Three surface bound proteins that bind These are plasmin plasminogen have been reported. binding receptor (also known as gylceraldehyde-3phosphate dehydrogenase or streptococcal surface dehydrogenase), alpha-enolase or streptococcal surface enolase, and plasminogen binding group A streptococcal M-like protein (150-155). These proteins potentially function in binding of the streptococcus to a host cell, since eukaryotic cells also express receptors capable of binding plasmin(ogen). In addition, the presence of the plasmin can be exploited by the bacterial cell to facilitate tissue invasion (156). Recently, an epidemiological study showed that acquisition of plasminogen was associated with the ability to cause invasive disease with the invasive isolates binding more plasminogen than isolates from non-complicated infections (157). The presence of plasmin on the cell surface may be involved in breaking down fibrin barriers allowing the organism to spread or alternatively to decrease the level of plasminogen available to the host during the immune response.

3.1.13. Serum opacity factor

Certain serotypes of group A streptococci produce a type-specific factor, known as opacity factor, which produces an opacity in serum. This protein is found

both as a released protein and bound to the cell surface (21, 158) by a LPXSGX motif (159). The opacity reaction results from cleavage of apoprotein A1 that leads to aggregation and insolubility of high-density lipoprotein. This factor was designated as an apoproteinase (160), more specifically an aspartic proteinase (161). Serum opacity factor appears to be a bifunctional protein bound to the cell membrane. The two activities are serum opacification and fibronectin/fibrinogen binding (125, 159, 162-164), with the C-terminal region being involved in fibronectin binding and the remainder of the protein being responsible for opacity factor activity (125, 159, 163). Fibronectin binding by opacity factor is about one order of magnitude lower than seen with the other fibronectin-binding proteins (165). Opacity factor is produced as a part of a two-gene operon. with the second gene's product, SfbX, also being able to bind fibronectin (166). However, the opacification reaction is encoded for by the *sof* gene. The role of opacity factor in virulence is difficult to determine due to the bifunctional nature of the enzyme. However, inactivation of the sof2 gene, from an M-type 2 strain, resulted in a reduction in the virulence of the mutant following intraperitoneal injection in mice (162). SOF has recently been shown to be involved in adherence of streptococcal cells through a fibronectinmediated process (165). Differences in the diseases associated with opacity factor positive or negative serotypes may be associated with one or both of the activities of this protein. Opacity factor positive serotypes tend to be associated with skin diseases (167), whereas those serotypes that cause invasive type diseases tend to be opacity factor negative. Recently it has been shown that serum opacity factor evokes a protective antibody response that protects against infection by opacity factor positive organisms. This protein should therefore be considered as a vaccine candidate for protection against at least some streptococcal infections (168).

3.2. Released extracellular virulence factors

One reason that group A streptococci are so pathogenic and cause an extensive range of diseases is that they produce and secrete a multiplicity of virulence factors into the external mileu. These factors are in addition to those already described that remain cell associated and include: (i) degradative enzymes such as proteases, DNases, and hyaluronate lyases; (ii) toxins such as the streptolysins and superantigens; and (iii) proteins with other functions including inhibition of complement and inference with phagocytosis and killing.

3.2.1. Cysteine protease

Group A streptococci produce, or at least have the potential to produce, a number of different proteolytic enzymes including SpeB (cysteine protease), C5a peptidase, opacity factor (aspartic apoproteinase) and a serine proteinase. In addition, the organism has the potential to utilize proteases produced by the host (169). Along with the hyaluronic acid capsule, perhaps the most widely studied of the streptococcal virulence factors is the streptococcal cysteine proteinase also known as pyrogenic (erythrogenic) toxin B (SpeB). Originally described as two different proteins, the use of molecular techniques indicated that the two molecules were the same. SpeB is produced as a zymogen that undergoes autocatalytic cleavage to give the mature peptide (170, 171). The gene for SpeB is conserved and found in virtually all strains of group A streptococci (172, 173) suggesting an important role in the survival of this organism.

Proteases have long been considered as virulence factors for organisms producing them, with virulence being attributed to the ability to allow for spread of the organism. In the case of the streptococcal protease a number of different roles in the disease process have been investigated with effects on producer strain proteins, the host immune system, and degradation of host extracellular matrix material (5, 6, 49, 169, 174). Insertional inactivation of the gene decreased mouse lethality (175-177), decreased resistance to phagocytosis (178), enhanced internalization by human cells using a fibronectin-dependent process (107, 179), eliminated fibrinogen cleavage (180), and in a strain specific manner affected expression of the hyaluronic acid capsule (181-183). Other results, again using an insertional mutant, suggested that SpeB has no effect on virulence (182, 184). The reason for the contradictory results is unknown, but may be due to strain-to-strain variation of different (unrelated) effects following gene inactivation, although the same parental strain (AM3) was utilized (175, 182). It is possible that the insertional inactivation resulted in differences that were not detected, especially when one considers the number of potential virulence factors produced by this organism. Perhaps one mutant was able to compensate for the loss of SpeB activity in a manner that the other was not. Another proposed function of SpeB is that of having strepadhesin activity; a surface-associated factor able to mediate the binding of S. pyogenes to laminin and other glycoproteins (185). In vivo, inverse relationships have been reported for expression of SpeB, and M-protein and SpeA (186, 187), with suppression of SpeB expression resulting in surface M-protein expression (187) and SpeA expression (186). Recently, SpeB was found to affect the ability of certain streptococcal superantigens to stimulate the appropriate T-cells (188). Superantigens stimulating cells expressing T-cell receptor V-beta-4 (TCRBV4), TCRBV7 and TCRBV8 were affected by SpeB, while those stimulating TCRBV2 were not (188). SpeB also degrades immunoglobulins, not only IgG but also IgA, IgD, IgE and IgM (174). Cleavage of IgG into the Fc and Fab fragments enhances survival of the organisms in the presence of opsonic antibodies, most likely by contributing to the ability to escape antibody-mediated phagocytosis (49, 174, 189, 190).

Obviously, the function of SpeB is still uncertain as new functions are ascribed to the protein, and in some cases contradictory results are obtained in different laboratories, albeit sometimes with different serotypes and strains. These results may indicate a varied role for the protein, however which function(s) is/are the most important or essential is still to be determined. One interesting result shows the interplay between important virulence factors of *S. pyogenes*; M-protein is required for the production of mature proteinase. The M-protein is involved in the unfolding of the proteinase zymogen, and production of the mature enzyme (191). Such an effect that would not be expected since the mature proteinase has also been implicated in cleavage of the M-protein from the bacterial cell surface. How these two effects are regulated remains to be determined since too much active proteinase would result in the destruction of M-protein. Another factor essential for the maturation of the protease is trigger factor, encoded by the *rop*A gene (1, 192). The effect of RopA is on the maturation process that occurs outside the cell, rather than the targeting step required for secretion. The activity of RopA is directed to ensure the correct conformation of the prodomain of the protein (1).

The role of proteolytic enzymes, for many if not all cells, is the breakdown of proteins. The breakdown products of the proteolytic digestion are transported into the cell for use as an energy source. Two transport systems found in bacteria, including S. pyogenes, are the dipeptide transporters and the oligopeptide transporters. The opp operon contributes to both production and export and/or processing of SpeB as well as other secreted proteins (193). Expression of speB was reduced in dpp operon mutants in a manner that suggested a link between nutritional pathways and virulence factor expression (194). The link between these two pathways is not understood, but probably involves, either directly or indirectly, the streptococcal multigene regulator Mga (see regulation section). Mga has been shown to regulate, at least partially, expression of the opp and dpp operons (194).

3.2.2. Streptokinase

Streptokinase (Ska) has long been considered a virulence factor of the streptococci because of it ability to lyse clots that may limit the spread of infection (195). The protein is an activator molecule that converts plasminogen to its active proteolytic form plasmin, in a non-enzymatic The streptokinase-plasmin complex has the manner. potential to degrade fibrin clots as well as the extracellular matrix, to allow for spread of the organism or its toxins, and to activate the complement cascade. In addition to activating plasmin, the active complex is not inhibited by factors that are normally able to inhibit plasma plasmin (196). This gives the producing organism additional spreading factor activity. Streptokinase production is not limited to group A streptococci, but is also produced by other streptococci although the proteins produced by these different organisms show a high degree of similarity (197). It has been shown that there is variation within two regions of the molecule in group A streptococci, most likely a result of recombination events (198). This may be important in the diversification of other virulence factors as well.

One consequence of streptokinase production is its role in the development of acute post-streptococcal glomerulonephritis. This sequelae may be initiated by deposition of streptokinase in the glomeruli of certain patients that leads to local activation of the complement cascade (199, 200). Two lines of evidence suggest a role of streptokinase in the development of nephritis. The first was that streptokinase production was a prerequisite for glomerulonephritis induction in mice; non-nephritic strains failed to show the deposition of streptokinase or C3 in the kidney (200). Second, only certain types of organisms can cause nephritis, and this effect could be associated with the finding that not all *ska* allelic variants are able to induce nephritis in an experimental mouse model (201).

3.2.3. DNases

Group A streptococci produce four antigenically distinct DNases (A, B, C, and D) capable of degrading DNA. Whether any or all of these are important as virulence factors is unknown (202), although they are produced during an infection because anti-DNase antibodies have been used as a diagnostic tool (203, 204). A gene (*sdaD*) identified as a DNase gene from *S. pyogenes* was reported to be similar to the group C streptococcal DNase, with the highest level of homology to the portion of the protein suggested to be the active site (205). Recently, it was shown that of 17 genes studied in cases of acute pharyngitis the *sdaD* gene was expressed at the highest level (206).

Genomic sequencing did not reveal similarity to genes with motifs associated with DNase activity, although sequence similarity between mitogenic factors MF1 (SpeF), MF2, and MF3 and proteins with nuclease activity suggested that these might represent the streptococcal DNases (35). DNase B or mitogenic factor MF (207) are immunologically identical to SpeF, although epitopes responsible for the two effects (DNase activity and mitogenic activity) are separate (208). Other DNase proteins have also been identified as mitogenic factors, with Spd1 being the same as MF2, although no mitogenic activity has been associated with the molecule (45). Of interest, was the observation that while this DNase is now phage encoded, it may have been originally chromosomally encoded. This is based on the presence of a signal peptide region in the protein, something not expected for a phage gene product. This report also suggests that nearly all the DNases of group A streptococci may be phage encoded, and that some soluble factor produced by pharyngeal cells is capable of inducing gene expression. Such effects suggest that the phage encoded DNase may play a role as a pathogenic determinant, particularly since it also appears to be linked to SpeC (a phage encoded superantigen) production (45).

3.2.4. Superantigens or pyrogenic exotoxins

Streptococcal pyrogenic exotoxins, or mitogenic factors, were originally discovered and named based on their presumptive role in the development of scarlet fever, and included erythrogenic toxins A, B (now known to be the cysteine proteinase), C and the poorly defined exotoxin D. These toxins are able to act as superantigens by nonspecifically activating large numbers of T-lymphocytes, resulting in the release of interleukins and cytokines. This family of bacterial superantigens has grown, with the availability of genomic sequence analysis, and now also includes SpeF (has nuclease activity (209, 210)) SpeG, SpeH, SpeJ, SpeK, SpeL, SpeM, SSA, SMEZ, and SMEZ-2 (5, 6, 211). Phylogenetic analysis of the superantigen-like proteins identified in the sequence of SF370 suggested horizontal transfer might have distributed the toxin genes (35). The properties, structure, and function of many of these superantigens have been reviewed in the last few years and readers are directed to these reviews (5, 6, 211). Recent data has been associated with confirming the superantigenicity and mitogenicity of SpeF (210), SpeJ (212), SMEZ (213), SpeL and SpeM (214, 215). Another avenue of investigation has involved determining the site of interaction between SpeC, major histocompatibility complex and the T-cell receptor. Like many investigations of *S. pyogenes* virulence factors, these studies show conflicting results. One group stated that the zinc-dependent major histocompatibility complex binding site was critical for the function of SpeC (216), while other results indicated that zinc coordination was not essential for the biological activity of SpeC (217).

The role of these toxins/superantigens in the disease process requires additional investigation as no clear role has been established, and it is possible that the effect may be as much host dependent as toxin dependent. As evidence of this, Chatellier *et al* showed that expression of different toxins varied among clinical isolates of M1T1 strains, but no association with disease severity was seen (218). Obviously, more work on the role of the numerous superantigens in streptococcal diseases is needed to clarify the function of each toxin.

3.2.5. Streptococcal inhibitor of complement

Contained within the mga regulon of the M1 strain of S. pyogenes is the gene encoding SIC, the streptococcal inhibitor of complement (219), a multifunctional protein able to interact with various host cell proteins and components of the immune system (220, 221). SIC incorporates into the membrane attack complex of complement and inhibits complement-mediated lysis, by binding to the C5b-C7 complex (222). In addition to inhibiting the action of complement, SIC also inactivates human neutrophil alpha-defensin and LL37, two antibacterial peptides of the innate immune response (221). Strains of S. pyogenes tested for their ability to induce another defensin associated with cutaneous defense, human beta defensin 2, were very poor at inducing the defensin gene (223). However, these organisms were sensitive to the killing action of the defensin, and it was proposed that the lack of induction was a way of evading the innate immune response. Combined with the effect of SIC inhibiting the alpha-defensin, the streptococcus has a means for avoiding important components of the innate defense system. In addition to the inhibition of antibacterial activity, SIC also decreases colonization of the mucosal surface as well as internalization and killing, thereby enhancing bacterial survival by avoidance of the intracellular environment of PMNs (224, 225). SIC binds to ezrin and moezin proteins involved in the interaction of the actin cytoskeleton with the plasma membrane. The binding of SIC to ezrin may result in alterations of cellular processes required for streptococcal binding, internalization and killing (224). Two other components of the innate response, lysozyme and secretory leukocyte proteinase inhibitor, were also bound to SIC (220). The antibacterial activity of the proteinase inhibitor was inhibited by SIC, although the antiproteinase activity was not. In the case of lysozyme, both the enzymatic and antibacterial activities were inhibited.

The gene for SIC, sic, was reported in M-types 1 and 57 suggesting the gene may be restricted to certain serotypes (219). However, within these serotypes there is a high degree of sequence variation (in-frame insertions and deletions, and nucleotide substitutions) probably driven by natural selection (226, 227). Recently the presence of sic was reported in 8 other M-protein genotypes, although with different frequencies (109). A gene, drs (distantly related to sic) has been detected in M-genotypes 12 and 55 (228), and like sic shows gene polymorphisms, at least within the M-12 genotype (229). This protein does not appear to inhibit complement, although it does bind to the complement proteins C6 and C7 (230). The authors suggested that since this protein is expressed by serotypes M12 and M55, glomerulonephritis associated strains, which the binding to the complement components gives it the potential to co-localize in the glomeruli. This could lead to formation of antigen-antibody complexes and result in glomerular injury (230).

3.2.6. Streptolysins

Group A streptococci secrete two hemolysins, streptolysin O and streptolysin S and encode three other putative hemolysins based on similarities to other known and theoretical hemolysins (35).

3.2.6.1. Streptolysin O

Streptolysin O (SLO) is an oxygen sensitive, thiol activated toxin that is produced by nearly all S. progenes isolates (47). SLO interacts with membrane cholesterol, forming pores following aggregation in the membrane of target cells (231). The target cells include erythrocytes, macrophages, leukocytes, platelets and a number of different cell culture types. The toxic effect of SLO, although recognized in in vitro cell assays, is also seen following injection into animals (232). The effects, and possible ramifications, of SLO during an infection were proposed using purified SLO, however, the role of the hemolysin in the infectious process in vivo has only recently been examined. SLO is important for invasive disease in a mouse skin infection model (233), where mice injected with a *slo* mutant were more likely to survive than those infected with a slo wild-type strain. In addition, infection with strains able to revert from SLO⁻ to SLO⁺ suggested an important role in virulence since reversion was much more common in a host than in culture (233). The role of SLO is still not understood, but it does not appear to be involved in the formation of necrotic lesions or spread of the organism from the lesion (233). Recent studies suggested another aspect of SLO activity; that is, enhancement of virulence in poorly encapsulated strains of S. progenes (99). No effect on virulence was seen in softtissue infection; however, the effect was observed using a sepsis model of infection. The authors suggested that in strains deficient in the hyaluronic acid capsule, SLO both protected the streptococci from phagocytic killing as well as enhancing virulence. Further evidence that SLO plays a smaller role than originally thought was obtained by Fontaine et al who showed no difference between a wild type and slo mutant in either intraperitoneal or subcutaneous infections (234). These results show the importance of in vivo assays, since the in vitro evidence

does not agree with *in vivo* experiments; obviously additional experiments are needed to determine the role of SLO in streptococcal infections.

A recent observation suggests an interesting role of SLO in streptococcal infections. The hemolysin can deliver proteins from the bacterial cytoplasm directly into the cytosol of a host cell in a manner similar to that described for type III secretory pathways (4). S. pyogenes was shown to translocate an effector molecule, NAD glycohydrolase, through a SLO pore. The NAD glycohydrolase translocated into the host cell is able to produce the second messenger molecule cyclic ADP ribose that contributes to a cytotoxic effect in keratinocytes (4). Furthermore, the translocation process required bacterial adherence to the cells; cells deficient in their ability to adhere were not able to transfer the glycohydrolase despite producing equivalent amounts of SLO and NAD glycohydrolase. Formation of a pore by the hemolysin is not sufficient for cytolysin-mediated translocation, with the SLO playing a more active role in the process than merely forming a pore (235). This type of effect opens up a new and potentially important role of SLO in streptococcal pathogenesis.

3.2.6.2. Streptolysin S

The second hemolysin produced by most strains of S. pvogenes is an oxygen stable non-immunogenic toxin that is released from the cell only in the presence of an appropriate carrier molecule (6, 47, 236). As well as its extracellular location, SLS also exists in intracellular and cell bound forms. Like SLO, SLS can lyse the membranes of a variety of other cells types in addition to erythrocytes. Cell membranes damaged by SLS include lymphocytes, neutrophils, and platelets, as well as subcellular organelles (232, 237). Lysis occurs by insertion of a lysin complex into the membrane leading to the formation of transmembrane pores, similar to the mechanism by which complement lyses bacterial cells (238). SLS is produced by a nine gene locus, of which the first gene, sagA, encodes a 53 amino acid peptide responsible at least in part for the hemolytic activity (239, 240). This peptide appears to be related to the bacteriocins, and is probably produced as a prepropeptide which undergoes modification and cleavage prior to, or during, secretion (240). The operon encoding SLS is conserved among the different serotypes of S. pyogenes (240), which suggests an important role for the peptide in the survival or virulence of the organism. But expression of SLS is not essential for virulence as some non-hemolytic mutants are capable of causing disease.

The promoter region of the sagA gene, when interrupted by transposon mutagenesis, was found to affect not only SLS production, but also SpeB, streptokinase and M-protein (241). This effect was reportedly due to the regulator *pel* (241). Subsequently, using a *sagB* deletion mutant, no such effect was seen, with transcription of all the genes being detected (234). Transposon mutants, in which production of SLS was disrupted but other virulence factors were unaffected, were not able to induce necrotic lesions in mice (239). Using an air sac model Eberhard *et al* found that SLS transposon mutants had a delayed lethal effect (242). Using an isogenic *sagB* mutant, no difference in the ability of the organism to multiply or change the LD_{50} following intraperitoneal infection was observed. However, a log-fold decrease in the LD_{50} following subcutaneous infection was seen (234). Another study indicated that SLS played a role in the virulence of acapsular strains, having only a modest influence on pathogenicity, an effect not associated with resistance to phagocytosis (99). Obviously the role of SLS in the virulence of group A streptococci has not been completely determined and still remains controversial, and it may be that the effects are strain associated rather than group or serotype associated.

3.2.7. Immunogenic secreted protein

Immunogenic secreted protein (Isp) is encoded by a gene upstream of mga. However, neither this gene nor the small open reading frame immediately downstream of isp have an effect on the transcription of mga or emm (243). The gene is conserved among members of the group A streptococci and appears to be post-translationally processed as the protein in culture supernatants is smaller than predicted from the gene sequence. The protein is produced in vivo, since antibodies are detected during a streptococcal infection. This indicates Isp is either secreted or at least associated with the bacterial surface (243) during in vivo growth. The function of Isp is unknown, but it has domains characteristic of surface proteins, as well as proteins involved in carbohydrate transport/metabolism or cell wall metabolism. BLAST searches indicate some similarity to proteins associated with transfer functions. What function this protein has in S. pyogenes is still to be determined.

3.2.8. Immunoglobulin G-degrading enzyme of *S. pyogenes*

Mac was originally described as spot 22 in studies examining the proteins present in S. pyogenes culture supernatants (244). Sequence data showed no homology to other bacterial proteins, but regions of identity to a subunit of the human leukocyte adhesion receptor Mac-1 were found (244). Subsequently, a gene denoted ideS (immunoglobulin G-degrading enzyme of S. pyogenes) was reported which also has similarity to human Mac-1. The gene product of *ideS* is a novel proteinase with specificity for IgG (245, 246). Mac and IdeS appear to be the same protein that is regulated by CovR (42). Two genetic complexes (I and II) were identified among 36 serotypes of S. pyogenes; within each complex the Mac variants were closely related, but there were differences between the complexes, with most of the variation occurring in the middle portion of the protein (247).

The function of Mac in *S. pyogenes* pathogenesis appears to be to inhibit opsonophagocytosis and killing by PMNs by interfering with the production of reactive oxygen species (248). Mac inhibits molecular processes that result in reactive oxygen species, and inhibits phagocytosis, through interaction with the Fc receptor CD16. When group A streptococci are taken up by phagocytic cells the gene encoding Mac is upregulated (249), an effect not surprising since it is associated with interference of the oxygen radical production. The other function of Mac, that of an immunoglobulin G endoprotease, may be involved in pathogenesis by inhibiting complement activation. The protease cleaves surface bound IgG at the hinge region, preventing contact with phagocytic cells (245).

3.2.9. Hyaluronidases

Group A streptococci produce a number of different hyaluronidases, including a chromosomally encoded hyaluronate lyase (250, 251), bacteriophage hyaluronidases (35, 36, 38, 250, 252) and Spy1600 identified in the genome of the sequenced M-type 1 strain of *S. pyogenes* (35), as well as in the other sequenced genomes (36, 38). Hyaluronidase has generally been considered to be spreading factor for the producing organism, either for spread of the organism or its toxins or enzymes.

3.2.9.1. Chromosomally encoded hyaluronate lyase

Certain strains of group A streptococci produce and secrete an extracellular hyaluronidase, more specifically a hyaluronate lyase (253). Originally reported as being produced by only a limited number of serotypes (254), it was subsequently discovered that production was a strain associated property rather than a serotype property (255). Hyaluronidase has long been proposed as a virulence factor, in particular a spreading factor, because of its ability to break down the hyaluronic acid present in the ground substance of host connective tissues (253). Recent results suggest that hyaluronate lyase may be more important for the diffusion of proteins or toxins rather than the organism itself (256).

Genomic analysis indicated that the gene for hyaluronate lyase is present in the genome of all strains so far sequenced (M1, M3, M18, and the incomplete M5), and an internal portion of the gene was present in all strains tested by PCR (251). However, less than 25% of strains actually produce the enzyme in vitro (250). In terms of the infectious process, the protein is produced, since antihyaluronidase antibodies are detected following a streptococcal infection (257). The reason for this difference, enzyme activity vs. antibody occurrence, is currently unknown but may either be due to production of an inactive protein or that enzyme production is induced in vivo in those strains not showing activity in vitro (251). One of the strange observations with the group A streptococci is that of the apparent contradictory processes that occur - the organism produces an anti-phagocytic capsule as well as an enzyme that degrades that protective component. The physiological consequences of this are unknown, but could be associated with production of different protective factors at different times of growth with the hyaluronic acid capsule produced early, followed by hyaluronate lyase production which destroys the capsule. At this switch time the antiphagocytic activity provided by M-protein and other surface associated proteins would become more effective. To date, no studies have shown a direct relationship between disease and hyaluronate lyase activity.

3.2.9.2. Bacteriophage encoded hyaluronate lyase

Bacteriophages of S. pvogenes carry a hyaluronidase gene, the most likely function of which is to degrade the streptococcal capsule and allow the phage access to the cell surface so they can infect encapsulated cells (258, 259). The protein encoded for by the bacteriophage lacks a signal peptide suggesting it is not secreted (250, 252), and at least some of it is associated with the phage tail (260). Such a location would indicate a role in the infection of a streptococcal cell by a bacteriophage. Like the chromosomally encoded hyaluronate lyase, the bacteriophage protein has been shown to be a hyaluronate lyase (261). The hyaluronate lyase genes found in the bacteriophage genomes are similar to each other, and belong to either the hylP-type which contain a collagen-like repeat sequence or the *hvl*P2-type which lacks this region (250, 252). However, allelic variation, the result of recombinational processes, is seen within the phage hyaluronate lyase genes (262). Whether the phage hyaluronate lyase plays a role in infection of a host by the streptococcus is unknown, however antibodies to the protein are detected following streptococcal infections (263, 264). It is possible that the phage hyaluronate lyase adds to the virulence of the Streptococcus by functioning as an additional spreading factor enhancing other chromosomally encoded spreading factors such as streptokinase, protease and the extracellular hyaluronate lvase.

3.2.9.3. Spy1600

Analysis of the S. pyogenes genomic sequence found a gene designated spy1600, that had similarity to meningioma-expressed antigen 5 and the Mu toxin expressed by Clostridium perfringens (35), and was therefore designated as a possible hyaluronidase. Recently a gene with similarity to spy1600 was reported to be present in Enterococcus faecium (265). Neither the gene, nor the putative translated product of spy1600, show similarity to any of the other streptococcal hyaluronidases. The similarity reported to those other hyaluronidases is low, being only 32% and 26% respectively. Of interest is the observation that expression of *spy*1600 is upregulated in response to phagocytosis (249). Whether Spy1600 is a really a hyaluronidase, or has some other function perhaps associated with the stress induced by phagocytosis remains to be determined.

3.2.9.4. Neuraminidase

Neuraminidases have been implicated in the pathogenesis of infections by facilitating the colonization of the host mucosa. Early reports indicated that *S. pyogenes* produced a neuraminidase (266). However, Savic and Ferretti (267) found no evidence that *S. pyogenes* produces a neuraminidase, and suggested that the earlier reports were due to the action of hyaluronidase (hyaluronate lyase) as was reported with the group B streptococcal neuraminidase (268).

3.2.10. CAMP factor

For a long time group A streptococci were considered to be CAMP factor negative, with the lack of this activity used to differentiate group A from group B streptococci. Recently the gene for CAMP factor (*cfa*) was identified in the genome of *S. pyogenes* (269). Not only does *S. pyogenes* possess the gene; it is also capable of producing an extracellular CAMP factor able to participate in the CAMP reaction. The reasons for suggesting *S. pyogenes* was CAMP negative were that the level of CAMP activity was generally lower than seen with the group B streptococci and lysis zones were probably masked by streptolysin activity (269). Although no role for CAMP factor in pathogenesis has been reported, the variable expression levels observed and the finding that the gene is common (99 of 100 strains tested) in *S. pyogenes* suggests that it may have a role in the disease process or be required for some physiological function.

4. REGULATION OF VIRULENCE FACTORS

Gene regulation in group A streptococci is a complex series of integrated and intertwined proteins and signals, the full nature of which is still being unraveled. Genome sequencing has revealed that group A streptococci have approximately 100 genes that could encode transcriptional regulator homologues; these include alternative sigma factors, transcription factors, and twocomponent regulatory systems (35, 36). Within the genomic sequence of the M-1 streptococcal strain SF370, two identical open readings with homology to a secondary sigma factor were identified (35). These were shown to function as a sigma factor in vitro by promoting transcription from an appropriate promoter known as the cin-box (270). Strains MGAS8232 (M-type 18) and SF370 (M-type 1) share 11 two-component regulatory systems and more than 36 transcription factors (36). Of the two-component systems, some have been assigned a function (35), but the role in the regulation of factors associated with virulence is not clear. The sequence of the M18 strain reveals the presence of an additional two component regulatory system, not present in the sequenced M1 strain, which has homology to a peptide-inducible system of S. pneumoniae (36).

Two of the sensor-regulator pairs appear to regulate small peptide signaling systems (35). The ComD/ComE system has been suggested to regulate competence using a quorum sensing type regulatory mechanism similar to that seen in Streptococcus pneumoniae (271); gene homologues of other components of the competence system are also present in this organism (35). A five gene locus, known as the streptococcal invasion locus (sil) includes a putative two component regulatory system in group A streptococci and has homology to the quorum sensing regulons of S. pneumoniae (272). This locus was found to be associated with virulence as well as DNA uptake in S. pyogenes. Inactivation studies indicated the sil locus is involved in invasive infections, but not directly in the survival of the microbes in blood (272). Competence could be important in virulence because it allows the organism to change its genetic makeup by acquisition of new pieces of DNA from other bacteria, some of which could encode new or

Regulator	Genes positively regulated	Genes negatively regulated
CovR		hasABC, sagA, speMF, ska, speB, mspA, mac/ideS, covR
FasA-FasX	ska, sagA, rgg, mga, fibronectin binding proteins	
Irr	mga, has operon	sod, rgg
Mga	<i>emm</i> , <i>scpA</i> , <i>sof</i> , <i>mrp</i> , <i>arp</i> , <i>scl</i> 1, <i>sic</i> , <i>fbaA</i> , <i>nra</i> , <i>mga</i> , <i>opp/dpp</i> . Collagen-like proteins	
Rgg (RopB)	<i>spe</i> B, <i>cov</i> R/S, <i>ihk/irr</i> , <i>fas</i> BCAX, <i>isp</i> 1, lysozyme, autolysin, <i>clp</i> B, adhesins	emm, scpA, cpsX, yufM, lytR, mac, sagA, sclI, slo, speH, grab, mac, mf, covR/covS, mga regulon,
RALPs: RofA/Nra	prtF, rofA, emm, has operon	prtF2, cpa, sagA, nra, mga regulon, speA, speB
Sag/Pel	speB, ska, slo, emm and emm-related genes, fbp,	
Rel-independent	covR/S, fasBCAX, slo	
RocA	covR	rocA
AmR	mga regulon	
Lsp	Mga, CsrR, Nra, SpeB	
SpeB		rgg

Table 1. Regulators of S. progenes and the genes they control

See text for relevant reference information

different virulence factors. Within the group A streptococci, there is relatively little variation between the genomes (35, 36, 38), and much of the variation appears to be due to bacteriophages and insertion sequences (38). However, additional variation could be enhanced by the uptake of free DNA by the cells.

The second two-component system associated with small molecule signaling is the srtR/srtK pair associated with regulation of the salivaricin (SalAI) lantibiotic operon. Salivaricin was first described in S. salivarius (273), but has been found in 90% of group A streptococci (274). Lantibiotics are antimicrobial peptides produced by gram-positive bacteria that undergo posttranslational modification (275, 276). These agents could aid in the establishment of the organism during the initial stages of infection by inhibiting the growth of normal flora. The SalA1 lantibiotic operon is autoregulated. with regulation occurring through the action of the sensor/kinase regulatory system similar to that described for quorum sensing in gram-negative organisms (277). Whether regulated antimicrobial agents are important for streptococcal virulence is a matter of conjecture, since not all strains produce the antimicrobial activity. However, their regulatory factors could modulate other factors that have a direct role in virulence, with particular genes being turned on at certain stages of an infection, or in the different niches in which the organism finds itself. A similar effect is seen during infections with Pseudomonas aeruginosa (271, 278).

Many of the virulence factors of *S. pyogenes* are controlled by two-component regulatory systems and/or transcription factors including Mga, CovR/CovS, RofA, Nra, Rgg, SagA and RocA (Table 1). These regulatory factors, and others potentially associated with virulence factor production, are discussed individually, however it must be noted that regulation in group A streptococci is not a case of one protein regulating one gene. The interactions that occur between the various regulatory factors are important, and it is this aspect of streptococcal virulence factor regulation that still requires clarification. Kreikemeyer *et al* recently published a review article on the regulatory networks associated with virulence factor regulation (279). They divided the regulatory factors into two groups: the 'stand-alone' response regulators and two component signal transduction systems. A similar convention has been followed here in the organization of the regulators, with discussion of the two component systems (CovR/CovS, FasBCAX, Ihk/Irr) first, then the stand-alone regulators (Mga, Rgg, RALPs). Other regulatory agents that do not fit neatly into these two categories (Sag/Pel, RelA-independent regulation, RocA) are also discussed.

4.1. CovR/CovS

One of the best characterized of the streptococcal regulatory systems is the CovR/CovS system, also known as CsrR/CsrS. Originally named CsrR for capsule synthesis regulator it was subsequently renamed CovR (control of virulence genes) when it was found that additional genes were also under the control of this regulator (280). The CovR/CovS system is also found in the group C streptococci (281). Microarray analysis indicates that CovR/CovS either directly or indirectly influences expression of 15% of the chromosomal genes of *S. pyogenes* (42). Of note is that CovR was able to repress transcription of some genes (*has*) even in the absence of the sensor kinase, CovS, although phosphorylation was required (282).

Initial studies reported an increase in hyaluronic acid capsule production following Tn916 mutagenesis, with insertion of the transposon into the promoter region upstream of covR (102). Inactivation of covR resulted in the same phenotype, and in animal studies, an increase in virulence was observed (103). Subsequent studies found that CovR inactivation also derepressed transcription of sagA, speMF and ska, but did not affect expression of cpa, mga, mac, scpA, or sic (103, 248, 280). CovR also represses transcription from its own promoter (280). Expression of *speB*, with respect to *covR*, varied depending on the strain; in the M1 strain MGAS166 (103) covR mutations resulted in derepression of speB, while in the Mtype 6 strain JRS4 expression of speB was not affected (280). Another study also indicated that CovR is not involved in transcriptional regulation of speB with inactivation of *cov*R resulting in less proteolytic activity. despite the fact that transcription was unaffected (283). MspA (284) or "protein 27" (244) was identified in culture supernatants of *covR* mutants. The appearance of this protein in the supernatant of the mutant strain indicated that

in the wild type, expression of mspA is repressed by CovR (284). The genes regulated by this system reflect those produced in log or in stationary phase, indicating that covR mediates repression in both these growth phases (280) despite covR transcript levels being maximal during the exponential phase of growth.

CovR binds to the promoter region of hasA, the first gene in the operon required for synthesis of the hyaluronic acid capsule (104). Binding of CovR to the promoter of the has operon is phosphorylation-dependent, with the phosphorylation resulting in complexes consisting of multimers of CovR (104). Phosphorylation also leads to the stabilization of the DNA-regulator complex (285). CovR binds to the promoters of a number of regulated genes including hasA, sagA, speB, ska, speMF, and covR, with different affinities (285); however, albeit phosphorylated CovR does not bind to its own promoter. A common feature of the promoter sequences is that they are AT-rich with runs of As or Ts; a common motif of 16 bp [5'-T(T/A)ATTTTTAA(A/T)AAAA (C/A)-3'] was found conserved among all five promoters that bound CovR (285). An interesting observation was that inactivation of hasA resulted in an increase in the levels of covR mRNA in both the exponential and stationary phases of growth, suggesting that has A somehow negatively regulates transcription of covR (283). A mechanism for this regulation has not yet been determined.

CovR/CovS responds to environmental Mg^{2+} ; this is the first specific signal shown to interact with a two component regulatory system in S. pyogenes. The effect appeared to be specific for Mg^{2+} since Ca^{2+} , Mn^{2+} , and Zn^{2+} did not have the same effect; in fact Ca^{2+} was found to increase capsule gene expression. The authors propose that Mg²⁺ triggers the phosphorylation of CovR by CovS; this phosphorylation then results in the repression of Covregulated genes (106). Growth in the presence of Mg²⁺ resulted in repression of capsule production and streptokinase expression in exponential growth and streptolysin S expression when the cells reach stationary phase. Previous studies into the role of CovR in expression of speB and covR/covS gave conflicting results (102, 280, 285). The level of Mg did not affect the level of transcription of these genes; neither were genes regulated in a Cov-independent manner (106). The authors speculated that the use of Mg^{2+} is an appropriate signal for an extracellular pathogen as it provides information to the pathogen to ensure maximal expression of the virulence factors in the host.

A recent study indicated that growth of *S. pyogenes* under stress conditions was dependent on CovS. The authors suggested that genes required for growth under stress conditions were repressed by CovR and that the stress activated the phosphatase activity of CovS (282). In this manner CovS inactivated CovR, thereby allowing for expression of stress related genes. Thus, the CovR/CovS system appears to act as an alternative sigma factor system; this may be important for survival of the organism since group A streptococci lack a general stress response sigma factor (282).

4.2. FasBCAX

The *fas*BCAX operon was named because of its ability to regulate fibronectin/fibrinogen binding, hemolytic activity and streptokinase transcription (286). The operon, which appears to be widely conserved among streptococcal serotypes, encodes two potential histidine protein kinases and one response regulator, with peak activities during the late exponential phase of growth (286). The presence of two sensor kinases is of interest and suggested two possible explanations; the sensors detect different signals or alternatively the sensor is a heterodimer rather than being a characteristic homodimer (286). Group C streptococci also have a *fas* operon, consisting of *fas*CAX in which the second kinase protein (FasB) is not part of the operon (281).

FasX was proposed to be an effector molecule for the operon, exerting growth phase control over certain streptococcal virulence factors (286). Expression of *fasX*, which is located downstream of the *fas*BCA operon was originally reported to be dependent on FasA (286); however, expression as part of the polycistronic mRNA containing *fas*BCAX, under conditions of amino acid starvation, suggest that expression of *fasX* is not absolutely dependent on FasA (287).

Mutation of the fasBCAX operon, by inactivation of *fas*B gene, increased expression of fibrinogen binding through late stationary phase; the wild type showed a decrease in binding as the cells entered the stationary phase. Additionally, streptokinase and streptolysin S both showed decreased activity in strains in which the fas operon was inactivated (286). However, the decrease in hemolytic activity was not related to a decrease in sagA/pel transcription, as the levels of this transcript increased in the mutants. Changes in speB, emm, hasB, slo or mga expression were not observed, although transcription of sod (superoxide dismutase) increased (286). A slight increase in ropB/rgg transcript levels was also observed; it would have been expected that this should result in an increase in the level of *speB* transcript (288). Whether the increase in transcription of ropB/rgg was sufficient to increase transcription of speB was not addressed, but since speB is regulated by so many factors small changes in the levels of certain regulators may be difficult to detect. This effect also has to be reconciled with the observation that SpeB production occurs late in growth (289). These authors speculated on a temporal factor involved in the regulation of SpeB production; whether fasX plays this role is uncertain since the fasBCAX operon does not appear to function in a manner similar to other quorum sensing regulators (286).

Expression of *mga*, *emm*, *scpA*, and *hasA* decreases as the cells enter stationary phase, with no transcript for these genes being detected (290), suggesting a growth phase regulator that acts directly on *mga* and that Mga then regulates the expression of other genes. It was noted that the native promoter or upstream region for *mga* was required for growth phase regulation (291). Since *emm* expression was not altered by mutations in the *fas* operon (286), this regulatory operon does not appear to be

responsible for the growth phase effect. These results support the suggestion that in addition to the *fas*BCAX system, other regulatory factors are required for the growth phase dependent regulation of streptococcal virulence factors. In addition, the question of whether there is strainto-strain or serotype-to-serotype variation in the expression of virulence factors needs to be addressed. Reid *et al* noted variation in the time of maximal expression of *spy*0747 between different serotypes of *S. pyogenes* (292). Whether this adds another degree of complexity to the regulatory mechanisms of streptococcal virulence factors is currently unknown. It may be that certain strains lack regulatory elements present in other strains; such a possibility could result in variation in the increase or decrease of transcription levels.

4.3. Ihk/Irr

Recently, an essential role for the Ihk-Irr ("*isp*adjacent histidine kinase" and "*isp*-adjacent response regulator" respectively) two-component system in the survival of *S. pyogenes* following phagocytosis was reported (249). It is located immediately upstream of the *isp* gene encoding the immunogenic secreted protein (35). The Ihk-Irr system identified as Spy2026 and Spy2027 (35), SpyM3_1732/1733 (38) or SpyM18_2083/2084 (36) was suggested to be involved in virulence regulation because of its location near the Mga regulated regulon.

At least eleven genes previously reported associated with virulence are upregulated during phagocytosis, including extracellular and surfaceassociated virulence factors. In phagocytic uptake studies gene expression was followed using DNA microarray analysis as well as TaqMan Real-Time PCR (249). Genes were differentially regulated during the phagocytic process, with some upregulated, others downregulated. Upregulated genes would provide the organism with the ability to avoid killing by polymorphonuclear leukocytes, as well as enhance phagocytic cell lysis (249). The mga and ihk-irr regulatory systems were upregulated during phagocytosis suggesting these may be important in regulating genes associated with evasion of the organism from the host defense system (249). Of note was that although mga was upregulated, the M-protein gene itself was down regulated; consistent with the role of the protein in preventing phagocytosis. Once phagocytosed, M-protein is of little benefit to the cell. On the other hand, the downregulation of the superoxide dismutase appears to be an anomaly; why downregulate a gene that would increase the chances of survival when exposed to the internal environment of the phagocytic vacuole? The downregulation may indicate the organism avoids exposure to the toxic oxygen radicals long enough to escape the vacuole.

Recently, it was been shown that *S. pyogenes* is not only able to survive phagocytic uptake, but also to escape from the vacuole into the cytoplasm of PMNs (293). In addition, intracellular bacteria appear to undergo a phenotypic switching, which alters morphology and capsule expression, as well as increasing virulence (293). Whether other Ihk-Irr regulated genes are involved in this increased virulence was not determined, but capsule expression was one factor that was enhanced.

4.4. Mga

The first virulence factor regulator found in S. progenes was the gene now known as mga. Originally reported to regulate production of M-protein, with inactivation of *mrv* resulting in a \approx 50-fold decrease in Mprotein levels (294). Other studies found a region upstream of the emm gene that regulated production and was associated with phase variation (295, 296). Subsequently, not only was emm regulated by this upstream region, but also C5a peptidase. Hence, the term virR was coined to indicate a multi-virulence factor regulator (297). It was later found that virR and mry were the same gene, and this gene regulated expression of a number of potential virulence factors. It was renamed mga, for multigene regulator in group A streptococci (298). Mga activates transcription of a number of virulence factor genes, predominantly those that are surface-associated. These factors include the M-family of proteins, C5a-peptidase, serum opacity factor, secreted inhibitor of complement, a glycoprotein binding protein, and a collagen-like protein (143-145, 294, 297, 299-302). In addition to these virulence factors. Mga also positively regulates expression of the opp and *dpp* operons (194). These operons are associated with transport of small peptides into the cell and probably play a role in nutrition rather than virulence. However, expression of SpeB appears to be linked to these operons. The affect of Mga on a nutritional pathway and the decreased expression of SpeB in transporter mutants indicates a link between these two aspects of streptococcal survival; the need to obtain nutrients and the production of required virulence factors.

Expression of mga is environmentally regulated, with aeration conditions being at least one signal that influences expression (303-305). An additional factor that plays a role in the regulation of mga is growth phase, with expression of mga, and Mga-regulated genes being expressed maximally in the exponential phase and shut off as the bacteria enter stationary phase (291).

When the complete gene was identified and sequenced, mga was found to have homology to the regulator protein of two-component regulatory systems (306); to-date, even with the sequence of a number of streptococcal chromosomes being available, the sensor component for this protein has yet to be found. The regulator binds to the promoter regions of regulated genes, allowing for the description of the Mga binding element (298). It also regulates it own transcription (304, 307), a process that involves the binding of Mga to its own promoter, but by a different mechanism to that associated with activation of other genes (307). Transcription of mga may be initiated from two promoter regions (304, 307), with binding of Mga required for activation of the proximal, but not the upstream site (307). Mga binds to two sites within the regulatory region upstream of mga, with binding to site I being required not only for activation of the proximal promoter, but also for the repression of the distal promoter (307). Mga has a structure that contains four potential helix-turn-helix motifs; only two of these are required for direct activation of the mga-regulated virulence regulon. One of these motifs is able to interact with all the promoter sites, while the other augments these interactions (307). Full autoactivation requires Mga to bind within its own promoter region and also requires both of the DNA-binding domains (308).

An integral membrane protein with similarity to transporters involved in cell wall synthesis, AmrA (activation of Mga regulon), was found to be required for the maximal activation of the Mga regulon in a M-type 6 strain of S. pyogenes (309). The amrA locus was conserved in the genomes of the M1, M3, M5 and M18 strains (309). How AmrA functions in the group A streptococci to regulate the Mga regulon is unknown, but two possibilities are that AmrA and Mga directly interact, or alternatively, AmrA signals are picked up by other mediators which in turn affect mga regulated genes (309). A third possibility links mga regulon expression to cell wall turnover, with rapid growth, therefore high wall turnover, being a indicator signal functioning in a manner similar to signals detected in quorum sensing systems (309). This ties the ability to monitor growth phase to the regulation of virulence factors controlled by Mga.

4.5. Rgg

Initially reported as RopB, for regulator of proteinase (192), this gene has a high degree of homology to Rgg, a transcriptional activator of the glucosyl transferase from *Streptococcus gordonii* (192, 288). The presence of the *ropB* gene immediately upstream of the target gene (*speB*) is similar to the arrangement in *S. gordonii*; however in *S. pyogenes* the regulator is transcribed divergently from the target (192, 288). Inactivation of the *rgg* gene results in the loss of proteolytic activity indicating the gene product acts as a positive regulator for the streptococcal proteinase (192, 288); the loss of proteolytic activity could be complemented by introduction of the *rgg* on a plasmid (288).

Streptokinase, streptolysins O and S, and DNase activities were not affected by the inactivation of rgg. suggesting Rgg does not regulate these proteins (288). Lysozyme, autolysin and ClpB expression during stationary phase, was lower in a rgg mutant when compared to the wild type; however the nuclease MF-1, DNA entry nuclease, and ORF953 expression was enhanced (310). The regulation of the nucleases suggests that rgg plays an important role in nuclease as well as in protease production (310). Whether the change in expression of these proteins in the stationary phase was due to alteration in quantity or stability of the transcripts is unknown. Interestingly, when speB was inactivated, more rgg transcript was observed; suggesting SpeB represses expression of rgg (310). Using DNA microarray assays, transcripts for emm, scpA, sagA, *slo*, the adhesin *scl*I, the superantigen *spe*H, *grab*, and *mac* were increased in abundance in mutants in which rgg was inactivated. However, when assayed by RT-PCR, grab transcripts were less abundant; the reason for the variation in results from different assays is currently unknown. The fact that other regulatory pathways regulate many of these genes suggested that Rgg might exert its effect by regulating other regulatory pathways. Rgg appears to repress expression of two regulatory systems, the mga

regulon, as well as cov R/cov S (311). The *fas*BCA operon and *ihk/irr* system showed decreased expression levels following *rgg* inactivation (311). The two-component regulatory genes *spy*0875, *cpsX*, *yuf*M, and *lyt*R all increased in abundance. Alterations in these regulatory genes result in changes in the expression of a number of different virulence factors including: *emm*, *scpA*, *scl*I, *slo*, *sagA*, *ska*, *spe*H, *grab*, *mac*, *mf*-1, and *mf*-3 (311). Whether *rgg* acts directly or indirectly in influencing expression of these other regulatory factors remains to be determined, but it is clear that *rgg* does have a genome wide effect on the expression of virulence factors.

4.6. RofA-like protein (RALP) type regulators

The first gene described in this group of regulatory proteins was *rof*A; the term RofA-like proteins (RALP) was adopted to group together these proteins that show a similar function. A number of these RofA-like regulators exist in the group A streptococci with similarities around 52%, at the amino acid level (312). Multiple forms of these regulators are found in a single strain (35, 127, 312), suggesting an important role in gene regulation. The nra gene has 60% similarity to rofA and is considered part of this family. Eighty three percent of strains tested were found to contain a rofA gene, while only 27% had the nra gene; of these 41% also carried the rofA gene (313). RALPs appear to regulate expression of important bacterial adhesins such as prtF, prtF2, and cpa, although no correlation between the type of RALP and the microbial surface components recognizing adhesive matrix molecules has been found (313).

4.6.1. RofA

RofA (regulator of F) was originally identified in a strain of S. pyogenes in which expression of protein F (prtF) was constitutive, rather than being oxygen regulated as found in most other strains (128). The genes for rofA and *prtF* are adjacent to each other, but divergently transcribed. Whether oxygen regulated or constitutively expressed, the same regulatory region was used for expression of prtF and rofA (117) with the host genetic background determining the expression phenotype. Increased levels of RofA acting in trans (117) could overcome the host genetic effect. Depending on the strain, the regulator can have differing effects; negatively regulating some genes, positively regulating other genes, or having no effect on genes that appear to be RofA-regulated in other strains (313). The rofA gene is autoregulated, with RofA binding to the intergenic promoter regions for rofA and *prt*F. RofA binds to two sites in this region, a 17bp site adjacent to the rofA promoter, and a 40bp region, containing two inverted sites, adjacent to the *prt*F promoter (312). These sequences were used to construct a consensus RofA binding site of TTTTCACCAAAAANCAT. The smaller 17bp site contributes to *rof*A regulation, while the larger 40bp binding site was required for expression of prtF. This site was suggested to be a common portal for regulation by multiple pathways and environmental signals (312). Different strains demonstrate differences in regions of the larger 40bp site for expression of prtF. These differences may reflect the contribution of other elements in the regulation of prtF (312). Nra (below) has a

regulatory binding site (GCTTCTAAACTT) that differs from that of the RofA binding site (127), indicating a different regulatory mechanism.

Inactivation of the gene encoding RofA showed this regulator is involved in the negative regulation of a number of virulence-associated factors, although by a different regulatory pathway than that used by the negative regulator, Nra (116). However some genes, and other regulators, are regulated by both these RALPs. Of interest is that promoter regions of genes negatively regulated by RofA do not show a conserved consensus binding sequence, suggesting RofA may act indirectly to control their expression (116). In addition to the direct effect on regulating *prt*F expression, and hence fibronectin and fibrinogen binding, attachment to and internalization by eukaryotic cells was decreased in mutants in which rofA was inactivated; also, increased killing of host cells was observed. These effects may be due to the increased production of other virulence factors (116). In a widespread screening, there was a strain-specific variability in the size and makeup of the regulons controlled by RofA or RofA2 (the gene from an M-type 2 strain). (313). Of interest was that RofA2 regulated aminoglycoside resistance (313). The relationship between regulating expression of surface proteins and aminoglycoside resistance is interesting, with changes in the surface characteristics leading to alteration of antibiotic sensitivity. Whether this is a look into the future with regards to antibiotic resistance in the streptococci remains to be determined. The association between antibiotic resistance and regulation of virulence factors suggests that these organisms may undergo changes, the effects of which are not yet determined.

4.6.2. Nra

Nra (negative regulator of group A streptococci) has 62% homology to RofA, and is considered to be in the family of RALPs (127). Like RofA, Nra regulates expression of surface proteins including fibronectinbinding protein F2 and the collagen binding protein, Cpa (127). However, unlike RofA, Nra is a negative regulator of its own expression, two operons adjacent to the gene (one of which includes the collagen binding proteins), as well as *mga* and *prt*F2 (127). Nra regulated genes play an important role in streptococcal virulence. Inactivation of *nra* resulted in decreased host cell viability and increased adherence and internalization, as well as the ability to escape phagocytic vacuoles quicker than *nra*-positive strains (120).

Transcription of nra is highest during the early stationary phase, and unlike RofA is unaffected by aeration conditions (127). While Nra is a negative regulator of mga, mga appears to be a positive regulator of nra expression; this would therefore make mga an indirect suppressor of nra-regulated genes (127). This may be important in the transition between the exponential and stationary phases of growth (127). Such interactions suggest a role for certain factors during growth, with an equally important role for other proteins as the cells enter stationary phase.

4.7. Sag/Pel

Transposon mutagenesis identified a region on the chromosome of a M-type 49, opacity factor positive, strain of *S. pyogenes* that showed altered expression of both surface and secreted proteins (241). The insertion disrupted the transcription of the *pel* RNA (pleiotropic effect locus) located within the promoter region of sagA, hence the designation of the region as sagA/pel. In vivo analysis indicated the insertion was in a positive regulatory site, rather than just insertion into the promoter region Examination of other strains indicated the pel (242).region was present in different serotypes, and in both opacity factor positive and opacity factor negative isolates. Disruption of the region resulted in phenotypic changes, involving both secreted (SpeB, Ska and hemolysin) and surface-associated proteins (M- and M-related proteins, fibrinogen-binding IgG-binding and proteins). Transcription of speB and emm genes was absent in pel mutants, sod (superoxide dismutase) transcript levels decreased to half, while ska was reduced 2-4 fold. However, the levels of transcript for *prt*F2 were unchanged. Introduction of the *pel* gene into a wild type strain resulted in an increase in the level of emm transcript (241) indicating a positive regulatory effect. This suggests that either pel RNA or the protein encoded by this gene acts as a global regulator, or it at least interacts with some other regulatory system.

In vivo studies using a sagA/pel mutant indicated that such a mutant was less virulent in a mouse infection model (242). Of note in this study was that some isolates obtained from the kidney of an infected mouse had reverted back to being beta-hemolytic, and showed some fibrinogen and fibronectin binding activity. In these 'hemolytic revertants' the transposon insertion was still present, and the strains still lacked the ability to produce streptokinase and SpeB (242). A similar result, reversion without a change in the position or orientation of the insertion, had been observed with an mga mutant (79). Such results suggest a complex regulatory network in *S. pyogenes* in which the organism is still capable of causing disease despite mutations in key locations.

4.8. RelA-associated regulation

Amino acid starvation triggers a series of events that leads to the modulation of gene expression. This response, known as the stringent response, is mediated by the accumulation of ppGpp (guanosine 5'-diphosphate 3'diphosphate) produced by either RelA or SpoT ((p)ppGpp synthetase). Whether ppGpp plays a role in the virulence or regulation of virulence associated gene in *S. pyogenes* is not known, but this compound was shown to accumulate following amino acid starvation (314).

The milieu in which group A streptococci multiply is a rich source of protein although the concentration of amino acids may be low. *S. pyogenes* appears to have evolved a response network that enables it to respond to this protein-rich environment of the host. In contrast to the synthesis of ppGpp in the stringent response, the *rel*A-independent response to amino acid deprivation involves regulation of a number of different genes, including some virulence factors (287, 315). These studies were conducted by comparing expression of wild-type strains with those in which the *rel*A gene involved in the stringent response [(p)ppGpp-mediated] is inactivated.

Virulence associated factors upregulated by amino acid starvation included the regulators *cov*R/*cov*S and the *fas* operon, the streptolysin S operon and the gene encoding *lux*S, the autoinducer-2 production protein gene (287). By contrast, the *mga* gene was not differentially affected by amino acid starvation (315). A common feature seen in the *fas* and *sag* operons was the production of fulllength transcripts under amino acid starvation conditions. For the *sag* operon, amino acid starvation resulted in the production of full-length transcripts containing all the genes associated with SLS production, without altering the level of *sag*A transcript (287). This suggested that stimulation of read-through transcription during starvation is a feature of the *sag* terminator.

The fasBCAX operon regulates fibronectin and fibrinogen binding, expression of SLS and streptokinase in a growth dependent manner that shows differential transcription modes dependent on the availability of amino acids. CovR/CovS, another regulatory system, is also upregulated by amino acid starvation with increases of 3-5 fold over unstarved controls. This up-regulation resulted in increased repression of ska as well as speB (315). In addition to being negatively controlled by CovR, speB is also positively regulated by Rgg (which is also known as RopB) (192, 288). RopB expression is also increased, albeit moderately, in starved cells. The exact mechanism of action of these two competing systems is not fully understood, but the effect of RopB is to minimize the up-regulation of *cov*R during starvation. However, since the overall effect of amino acid starvation on speB expression is repression, this suggests that covR/covS transcription is stimulated more than rgg transcription (315).

The interrelationships that exist between different regulators and amino acid starvation suggest a system that allows *S. pyogenes* to make the most out of nutrient rich environments, but also to be able to adjust synthesis of macromolecules in relation to the supply of amino acids (287). It is also probable that the use of multiple mechanisms allows for the modulation of virulence factors for maximal benefit to the invading organism in the different environments in which it is going to find itself.

4.9. RocA

A complex regulatory network controls expression of CovR/CovS with a number of factors affecting expression. To add to this complex, another regulator known as RocA (regulator of CovR) has recently been described (316); this gene identified as *spy*1605 from the chromosome sequence has some homology to sensor kinases. This gene product activates covR/covS, such that inactivation of rocA results in a decrease in the levels of CovR and subsequently an increase in the expression (derepression) of *has* transcription. This regulation appears to be by some indirect route since the RocA sequence does not appear to be a DNA binding protein. This indirect regulation is dependent on the presence of functional CovR. In addition to activating covR expression, RocA also negatively regulates its own expression, the manner (directly or indirectly) of which is still to be determined (316).

5. SUMMARY AND PERSPECTIVE

S. pyogenes has in its arsenal a diverse variety of extracellular products, the functions of which are still, in many cases, under investigation. We may know and understand the biochemical properties of some of these proteins and even have insight into their role in streptococcal virulence. However, the manner in which many of the different factors relate to one another is still unclear. Similarly, we still lack a complete understanding of how these virulence factors are regulated, not only *in vitro* but also *in vivo*. It is unknown whether every factor is necessary for the organism to survive and cause infection and what stimuli from the host environment are responsible for the up and down regulation of expression.

Virulence factors of S. pyogenes can be divided into broad categories based on their possible roles such as adhesion (collagen, plasmin/plasminogen and fibronectin binding proteins, GRAB, Lsp, and CD15s-related antigens), host response avoidance (M-protein, immunoglobulin binding proteins, C5a peptidase, hyaluronic acid capsule, Sic, and IdeS), spread and tissue destruction (SpeB, Ska, DNases, hyaluronidases), and those associated with toxicity (streptolysins O and S, and superantigens and pyrogenic exotoxins). Some of these factors may be involved in the disease process at discrete steps, yet others (e.g. SpeB) could have effects at multiple stages. S. pyogenes potentially comes in contact with a range of cell types and tissues during an infection. In addition some bacterial cells are able to survive inside host cells following invasion. We do not know what happens to the bacterial cell in these different environments, therefore a better understanding of what this organism does under these different conditions is needed.

How does *S. pyogenes* switch phenotypes (with respect to virulence factors produced) and what triggers the switch? We know that organisms of the same serotype are able to cause diseases ranging from an asymptomatic throat infection to necrotizing fasciitis and the delayed immunological sequelae of rheumatic fever and glomerulonephritis. Which virulence factors are involved in the various protean manifestations of a streptococcal infection still requires further investigation; some are better understood that others. It is likely that only certain factors are produced at one particular time. Information is now being obtained on the expression of some factors *in vivo*, but a lot still remains to be determined.

The genomic approach to the study of bacterial pathogenesis has opened up new avenues of investigation by allowing us to look at genome wide expression. However, some of the proposed virulence factors still need to be examined at a single protein level in order to ascertain any role in pathogenesis before their precise place in streptococcal virulence can be determined. Beyond the basic scientific interest in a particular factor and its involvement in disease pathogenesis, studies into the virulence of S. progenes will have the added benefit of providing alternative ways to treat streptococcal infections. Currently S. pyogenes is still sensitive to most of the commonly used antibiotics. However what will happen to treatment regimens when this is no longer the case? A greater understanding of what aspects about the organism allow it to so successfully cause disease is needed, and in doing so alternative mechanisms for preventing colonization, disease, or at least the adverse effects induced by S. pyogenes may be found. Perhaps we can stop the organism from progressing beyond causing a sore throat, thereby eliminating the more severe diseases. But the microbe alone does not define the nature of streptococcal infections since the host also plays a key role in the process, particularly in those delayed sequelae. Even when we understand the virulence factors it will still be necessary to determine what role the host has in this process, and how or if the organism uses the host response to its advantage.

The host response to contact with, or infection by, S. pyogenes is a key element in determining what genes are turned on or off in the bacterial cell. It is no surprise that host cells influence expression of virulence factors (206, 249). The details of the overall effect must still be elucidated. Does the host affect result in the turning on or off of one key element or does it influence a variety of pathways? To date, a number of studies have looked at the regulation of the virulence factors, but there are still many outstanding questions that need to be addressed (279), including what cues the bacterial cell is detecting from the host. In addition to those directly involved in determining how the organism regulates its important virulence factors, other questions regarding the big picture of an integrated network of regulators and virulence factors must be answered. What is at the core of this integrated network? Is there one global regulatory molecule that somehow influences all the different networks, or is each network controlled independently? So far, there is no evidence for a single regulatory control protein. If anything the opposite effect is seen, with multiple regulators controlling a number of different factors. In some cases the enzyme product (e.g. SpeB) of one regulated gene affects expression of other regulators, as well as virulence factors. When one looks at the regulated virulence factor genes, and some of the regulators themselves, many are negatively regulated. Does this suggest that S. pyogenes has an evolutionary interest in trying to repress synthesis of these factors so it can live in harmony with us as a host, or is the organism waiting for the opportunity to detect some as yet unknown signal that unleashes its full pathogenic potential? Alternatively, this could represent a situation where the cell is trying to find the most hospitable environment for its survival with the regulated virulence factors being involved in balancing opposing pressures in the environment. One example of this paradox is in cells producing a hyaluronic acid capsule as well as carrying the gene for hyaluronate lyase production. The benefit to the organism of producing an antiphagocytic capsule and then later producing an enzyme that destroys this protective mechanism is not readily

apparent. This suggests the need for some type of coordinated regulatory control. However, hyaluronate capsule synthesis is lost during the stationary phase of growth, an effect due to absence of synthase activity at this stage of growth rather than production of hyaluronate lyase (317). Earlier results had suggested a role for a membrane bound hyaluronate lyase (318). It could be that during the early stages of infection the capsule plays an antiphagocytic role, whereas later in the infectious process this protective mechanism is met by M-protein exposed following loss of or destruction of the capsule. This suggests that the lyase, if not involved in capsule turnover, could function as a spreading factor for bacterial products. Other conflicts also occur such as the production of virulence-associated proteins that are cleaved by another virulence factor, the protease. One example would be the need for M-protein in production of the mature protease, with the protease then acting on and cleaving the M-protein. This may represent a way of 'confusing' the immune system; antibodies to Mprotein may coalesce on the protein released from the cell therefore not giving other aspects of the immune response (phagocytic cells, complement) the opportunity to destroy the bacterial cell.

Despite years of study, by many investigators, there are many unanswered questions regarding the pathogenesis and virulence of the group A streptococci. Although great progress has been made in understanding this organism, there is still a lot of information to be determined in terms of the virulence factors of the organism, their regulation, and how all these various components relate to one another. Understanding these relationships will provide information on the pathogen, whose sole host is man, and its ability to cause disease, and ultimately how to control infections by *S. pyogenes*.

6. REFERENCES

1. Lyon, W. R., and M. G. Caparon: Trigger factormediated prolyl isomerization influences maturation of the *Streptococcus pyogenes* cysteine protease. *J Bacteriol* 185, 3661-3667 (2003)

2. Lyon, W. R., and M. G. Caparon: Role for serine protease HtrA (DegP) of *Streptococcus pyogenes* in the biogenesis of virulence factors SpeB and the hemolysin streptolysin S. *Infect Immun* 72, 1618-1625 (2004)

3. Rosch, J., and M. Caparon: A microdomain for protein secretion in gram-positive bacteria. *Science* 304, 1513-1515 (2004)

4. Madden, J. C., N. Ruiz, and M. Caparon: Cytolysinmediated translocation (CMT): a functional equivalent of type III secretion in gram-positive bacteria. *Cell* 104, 143-152 (2001)

5. Cunningham, M. W.: Pathogenesis of group A streptococcal infections. *Clin Microbiol Rev* 13, 470-511 (2000)

6. Bisno, A. L., M. O. Brito, and C. M. Collins: Molecular basis of group A streptococcal virulence. *Lancet Infect Dis* 3, 191-200 (2003)

7. Fischetti, V. A., R. P. Novick, J. J. Ferretti, D. A. Portnoy, and J. I. Rood: Gram-positive pathogens, ASM Press, Washington, D.C. (2000)

8. Shottmuller, H.: Die Artuntterscheidung der fur den menschen Pathogen Streptokokken durch Blutagar. *Munch Med Wochenschr* 50, 849-853 (1903)

9. Lancefield, R. C.: A serological differentiation of human and other groups of streptococci. *J Exp Med* 59, 441-158 (1933)

10. Sherman, J. M.: The Streptococci. Bacteriol Rev 1, 3-97 (1937)

11. Lancefield, R. C.: The antigenic complex of *Streptococcus hemolyticus*. I. Demonstration of a type-specific substance in extracts of *Streptococcus hemolyticus*. *J Exp Med* 47, 9-10 (1928)

12. Facklam, R. F., D. R. Martin, M. Lovgren, D. R. Johnson, A. Efstratiou, T. A. Thompson, S. Gowan, P. Kriz, G. J. Tyrrell, E. Kaplan, and B. Beall: Extension of the Lancefield classification for group A streptococci by addition of 22 new M protein gene sequence types from clinical isolates: *emm*103 to *emm*124. *Clin Infect Dis* 34, 28-38 (2002)

13. Beall, B., R. Facklam, and T. Thompson: Sequencing *emm*-specific PCR products for routine and accurate typing of group A streptococci. *J Clin Microbiol* 34, 953-958 (1996)

14. Beall, B., G. Gherardi, M. Lovgren, R. R. Facklam, B. A. Forwick, and G. J. Tyrrell: *emm* and *sof* gene sequence variation in relation to serological typing of opacity-factor-positive group A streptococci. *Microbiol* 146, 1195-1209 (2000)

15. Beall, B., R. R. Facklam, J. A. Elliott, A. R. Franklin, T. Hoenes, D. Jackson, L. Laclaire, T. Thompson, and R. Viswanathan: Streptococcal *emm* types associated with Tagglutination types and the use of conserved *emm* gene restriction fragment patterns for subtyping group A streptococci. *J Med Microbiol* 47, 893-898 (1998)

16. Beall, B., R. Facklam, T. Hoenes, and B. Schwartz: Survey of *emm* gene sequences and T-antigen types from systemic *Streptococcus pyogenes* infection isolates collected in San Francisco, California; Atlanta, Georgia; and Connecticut in 1994 and 1995. *J Clin Microbiol* 35, 1231-1235 (1997)

17. Bisno, A. L.: The concept of rheumatogenic and nonrheumatogenic group A streptococci. In: Streptococcal diseases and the immune response Eds: Read, S. E., and J. B. Zabriskie, Academic Press Inc., New York 789-803 (1980)

18. Stollerman, G. H.: Nephritogenic and rheumatogenic group A streptococci. *J Infect Dis* 120, 259-263 (1969)

19. Bessen, D. E., T. R. Fiorentino, and S. K. Hollingshead: Molecular markers for throat and skin isolates of group A streptococci. *Adv Exp Med Biol* 418, 537-543 (1997)

20. Bessen, D. E., C. M. Sotir, T. L. Readdy, and S. K. Hollingshead: Genetic correlates of throat and skin isolates of group A streptococci. *J Infect Dis* 173, 896-900 (1996)

21. Widdowson, J. P., W. R. Maxted, and D. L. Grant: The production of opacity in serum by group A streptococci and its relationship with the presence of M antigen. *J Gen Microbiol* 61, 343-353 (1970)

22. Widdowson, J. P., W. R. Maxted, D. L. Grant, and A. M. Pinney: The relationship between M-antigen and opacity factor in group A streptococci. *J Gen Microbiol* 65, 69-80 (1971)

23. Gardiner, D., J. Hartas, B. Currie, J. D. Mathews, D. J. Kemp, and K. S. Sriprakash: Vir typing: a long-PCR typing method for group A streptococci. *PCR Methods Appl* 4, 288-293 (1995)

24. Desai, M., A. Tanna, A. Efstratiou, R. George, J. Clewley, and J. Stanley: Extensive genetic diversity among clinical isolates of *Streptococcus pyogenes* serotype M5. *Microbiol* 144, 629-637 (1998)

25. Fiorentino, T. R., B. Beall, P. Mshar, and D. E. Bessen: A genetic-based evaluation of the principal tissue reservoir for group A streptococci isolated from normally sterile sites. *J Infect Dis* 176, 177-182 (1997)

26. Selander, R. K., D. A. Caugant, H. Ochman, J. M. Musser, M. N. Gilmour, and T. S. Whittam: Methods of multilocus enzyme electrophoresis for bacterial population genetics and systematics. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 51, 873-884 (1986)

27. Enright, M. C., B. G. Spratt, A. Kalia, J. H. Cross, and D. E. Bessen: Multilocus sequence typing of *Streptococcus pyogenes* and the relationships between *emm* type and clone. *Infect Immun* 69, 2416-2427 (2001)

28. Swedo, S. E., H. L. Leonard, M. B. Schapiro, B. J. Casey, G. B. Mannheim, M. C. Lenane, and D. C. Rettew: Sydenham's chorea: physical and psychological symptoms of St Vitus dance. *Pediatrics* 91, 706-713 (1993)

29. Allen, A. J., H. L. Leonard, and S. E. Swedo: Case study: a new infection-triggered, autoimmune subtype of pediatric OCD and Tourette's syndrome. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry* 34, 307-311 (1995)

30. Swedo, S. E., H. L. Leonard, B. B. Mittleman, A. J. Allen, J. L. Rapoport, S. P. Dow, M. E. Kanter, F. Chapman, and J. Zabriskie: Identification of children with pediatric autoimmune neuropsychiatric disorders associated with streptococcal infections by a marker associated with rheumatic fever. *Am J Psychiatry* 154, 110-112 (1997)

31. Taylor, M. B., and T. Barkham: Fatal case of pneumonia caused by a nonhemolytic strain of *Streptococcus pyogenes*. *J Clin Microbiol* 40, 2311-2312 (2002)

32. Mao, L. K., H. W. Flynn, Jr., D. Miller, and S. C. Pflugfelder: Endophthalmitis caused by streptococcal species. *Arch Ophthalmol* 110, 798-801 (1992)

33. Lossos, I. S., I. Felsenstein, R. Breuer, and D. Engelhard: Food-borne outbreak of group A beta-hemolytic streptococcal pharyngitis. *Arch Intern Med* 152, 853-855 (1992)

34. Gallo, G., R. Berzero, N. Cattai, S. Recchia, and G. Orefici: An outbreak of group A food-borne streptococcal pharyngitis. *Eur J Epidemiol* 8, 292-297 (1992)

35. Ferretti, J. J., W. M. McShan, D. Ajdic, D. J. Savic, G. Savic, K. Lyon, C. Primeaux, S. Sezate, A. N. Suvorov, S. Kenton, H. S. Lai, S. P. Lin, Y. Qian, H. G. Jia, F. Z. Najar, Q. Ren, H. Zhu, L. Song, J. White, X. Yuan, S. W. Clifton, B. A. Roe, and R. McLaughlin: Complete genome sequence of an M1 strain of *Streptococcus pyogenes*. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 98, 4658-4663. (2001)

36. Smoot, J. C., K. D. Barbian, J. J. Van Gompel, L. M. Smoot, M. S. Chaussee, G. L. Sylva, D. E. Sturdevant, S. M. Ricklefs, S. F. Porcella, L. D. Parkins, S. B. Beres, D. S. Campbell, T. M. Smith, Q. Zhang, V. Kapur, J. A. Daly, L. G. Veasy, and J. M. Musser: Genome sequence and comparative microarray analysis of serotype M18 group A streptococcus strains associated with acute rheumatic fever outbreaks. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 99, 4668-4673 (2002)

37. Nakagawa, I., K. Kurokawa, A. Yamashita, M. Nakata, Y. Tomiyasu, N. Okahashi, S. Kawabata, K. Yamazaki, T. Shiba, T. Yasunaga, H. Hayashi, M. Hattori, and S. Hamada: Genome sequence of an M3 strain of *Streptococcus pyogenes* reveals a large-scale genomic rearrangement in invasive strains and new insights into phage evolution. *Genome Res* 13, 1042-1055 (2003)

38. Beres, S. B., G. L. Sylva, K. D. Barbian, B. Lei, J. S. Hoff, N. D. Mammarella, M. Y. Liu, J. C. Smoot, S. F. Porcella, L. D. Parkins, D. S. Campbell, T. M. Smith, J. K. McCormick, D. Y. Leung, P. M. Schlievert, and J. M. Musser: Genome sequence of a serotype M3 strain of group A streptococcus: phage-encoded toxins, the high-virulence phenotype, and clone emergence. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 99, 10078-10083 (2002)

39. Smoot, J. C., E. K. Korgenski, J. A. Daly, L. G. Veasy, and J. M. Musser: Molecular analysis of group A streptococcus type *emm*18 isolates temporally associated with acute rheumatic fever outbreaks in Salt Lake City, Utah. *J Clin Microbiol* 40, 1805-1810 (2002)

40. Reid, S. D., N. M. Green, J. K. Buss, B. Lei, and J. M. Musser: Multilocus analysis of extracellular putative virulence proteins made by group A streptococcus: population genetics, human serologic response, and gene

transcription. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 98, 7552-7557 (2001)

41. Graham, M. R., L. M. Smoot, B. Lei, and J. M. Musser: Toward a genome-scale understanding of group A streptococcus pathogenesis. *Curr Opin Microbiol* 4, 65-70 (2001)

42. Graham, M. R., L. M. Smoot, C. A. Migliaccio, K. Virtaneva, D. E. Sturdevant, S. F. Porcella, M. J. Federle, G. J. Adams, J. R. Scott, and J. M. Musser: Virulence control in group A streptococcus by a two-component gene regulatory system: global expression profiling and in vivo infection modeling. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 99, 13855-13860 (2002)

43. Shelburne, S. A., and J. M. Musser: Virulence gene expression in vivo. *Curr Opin Microbiol* 7, 283-289 (2004)

44. Broudy, T. B., V. Pancholi, and V. A. Fischetti: Induction of lysogenic bacteriophage and phage-associated toxin from group A streptococci during coculture with human pharyngeal cells. *Infect Immun* 69, 1440-1443 (2001)

45. Broudy, T. B., V. Pancholi, and V. A. Fischetti: The *in vitro* interaction of *Streptococcus pyogenes* with human pharyngeal cells induces a phage-encoded extracellular DNase. *Infect Immun* 70, 2805-2811 (2002)

46. Ferretti, J. J., T.-T. Huang, W. L. Hynes, H. Malke, D. Simon, A. Suvorov, and C.-E. Yu: Extracellular product genes of group A streptococci. In: Streptococcal Genetics - 1990 Eds: Dunny, G., P. Cleary, and L. McKay, American Society for Microbiology, Washington, D.C. 201 - 205 (1991)

47. Alouf, J. E.: Streptococcal toxins (streptolysin O, streptolysin S, erythrogenic toxin). *Pharmacol Ther* 11, 661-717 (1980)

48. Kotb, M.: Bacterial pyrogenic exotoxins as superantigens. *Clin Microbiol Rev* 8, 411-426 (1995)

49. Collin, M., and A. Olsen: Extracellular enzymes with immunomodulating activities: variations on a theme in *Streptococcus pyogenes*. *Infect Immun* 71, 2983-2992 (2003)

50. Cleary, P., and D. Retnoningrum: Group A streptococcal immunoglobulin-binding proteins: adhesins, molecular mimicry or sensory proteins? *Trends Microbiol* 2, 131-136 (1994)

51. Hollingshead, S. K., T. L. Readdy, D. L. Yung, and D. E. Bessen: Structural heterogeneity of the *emm* gene cluster in group A streptococci. *Mol Microbiol* 8, 707-717 (1993)

52. Fischetti, V. A.: Streptococcal M protein. *Sci Am* 264, 58-65 (1991)

53. Fischetti, V. A.: Streptococcal M protein: molecular design and biological behavior. *Clin Microbiol Rev* 2, 285-314 (1989)

54. De Malmanche, S. A., and D. R. Martin: Protective immunity to the group A streptococcus may be only strain specific. *Med Microbiol Immunol (Berl)* 183, 299-306 (1994)

55. Penney, T. J., D. R. Martin, L. C. Williams, S. A. De Malmanche, and P. L. Bergquist: A single *emm* gene-specific oligonucleotide probe does not recognise all members of the *Streptococcus pyogenes* M type 1. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* 130, 145-149 (1995)

56. Musser, J. M., V. Kapur, J. Szeto, X. Pan, D. S. Swanson, and D. R. Martin: Genetic diversity and relationships among serotype M1 strains of *Streptococcus pyogenes*. *Dev Biol Stand* 85, 209-213 (1995)

57. Hollingshead, S. K., V. A. Fischetti, and J. R. Scott: Size variation in group A streptococcal M protein is generated by homologous recombination between intragenic repeats. *Mol Gen Genet* 207, 196-203 (1987)

58. Relf, W. A., D. R. Martin, and K. S. Sriprakash: Antigenic diversity within a family of M proteins from group A streptococci: evidence for the role of frameshift and compensatory mutations. *Gene* 144, 25-30 (1994)

59. Harbaugh, M. P., A. Podbielski, S. Hugl, and P. P. Cleary: Nucleotide substitutions and small-scale insertion produce size and antigenic variation in group A streptococcal M1 protein. *Mol Microbiol* 8, 981-991 (1993)

60. Dale, J. B., E. Y. Chiang, and J. W. Lederer: Recombinant tetravalent group A streptococcal M protein vaccine. *J Immunol* 151, 2188-2194 (1993)

61. Hu, M. C., M. A. Walls, S. D. Stroop, M. A. Reddish, B. Beall, and J. B. Dale: Immunogenicity of a 26-valent group A streptococcal vaccine. *Infect Immun* 70, 2171-2177 (2002)

62. Cunningham, M. W., S. M. Antone, J. M. Gulizia, B. M. McManus, V. A. Fischetti, and C. J. Gauntt: Cytotoxic and viral neutralizing antibodies crossreact with streptococcal M protein, enteroviruses, and human cardiac myosin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 89, 1320-1324 (1992)

63. Dale, J. B., and E. H. Beachey: Epitopes of streptococcal M proteins shared with cardiac myosin. *J Exp Med* 162, 583-591 (1985)

64. Dale, J. B., and E. H. Beachey: Sequence of myosincrossreactive epitopes of streptococcal M protein. *J Exp Med* 164, 1785-1790 (1986)

65. Robinson, J. H., and M. A. Kehoe: Group A streptococcal M proteins: virulence factors and protective antigens. *Immunol Today* 13, 362-367 (1992)

66. Courtney, H. S., J. B. Dale, and D. L. Hasty: Strategies for prevention of group A streptococcal adhesion and infection. In: Handbook of bacterial adhesion: principles, methods, and applications Eds: An, Y. H., and R. J. Friedman, Humana Press, Totowa, N.J. 553 - 579 (2000) 67. Horstmann, R. D., H. J. Sievertsen, M. Leippe, and V. A. Fischetti: Role of fibrinogen in complement inhibition by streptococcal M protein. *Infect Immun* 60, 5036-5041 (1992)

68. Christner, R., Z. Li, R. Raeder, A. Podbielski, and M. D. Boyle: Identification of key gene products required for acquisition of plasmin-like enzymatic activity by group A streptococci. *J Infect Dis* 175, 1115-1120 (1997)

69. Ringdahl, U., and U. Sjobring: Analysis of plasminogen-binding M proteins of *Streptococcus pyogenes*. *Methods* 21, 143-150 (2000)

70. Berggard, K., E. Johnsson, E. Morfeldt, J. Persson, M. Stalhammar-Carlemalm, and G. Lindahl: Binding of human C4BP to the hypervariable region of M protein: a molecular mechanism of phagocytosis resistance in *Streptococcus pyogenes*. *Mol Microbiol* 42, 539-551 (2001)

71. Johnsson, E., K. Berggard, H. Kotarsky, J. Hellwage, P. F. Zipfel, U. Sjobring, and G. Lindahl: Role of the hypervariable region in streptococcal M proteins: binding of a human complement inhibitor. *J Immunol* 161, 4894-4901 (1998)

72. Carlsson, F., K. Berggard, M. Stalhammar-Carlemalm, and G. Lindahl: Evasion of phagocytosis through cooperation between two ligand-binding regions in *Streptococcus pyogenes* M protein. *J Exp Med* 198, 1057-1068 (2003)

73. Ben Nasr, A. B., H. Herwald, W. Muller-Esterl, and L. Bjorck: Human kininogens interact with M protein, a bacterial surface protein and virulence determinant. *Biochem J* 305, 173-180 (1995)

74. Ben Nasr, A., H. Herwald, U. Sjobring, T. Renne, W. Muller-Esterl, and L. Bjorck: Absorption of kininogen from human plasma by *Streptococcus pyogenes* is followed by the release of bradykinin. *Biochem J* 326, 657-660 (1997)

75. Herwald, H., M. Collin, W. Mulleresterl, and L. Bjorck: Streptococcal cysteine proteinase releases kinins: A novel virulence mechanism. *J Exp Med* 184, 665-673 (1996)

76. Frick, I. M., A. Schmidtchen, and U. Sjobring: Interactions between M proteins of *Streptococcus pyogenes* and glycosaminoglycans promote bacterial adhesion to host cells. *Eur J Biochem* 270, 2303-2311 (2003)

77. Eyal, O., J. Jadoun, A. Bitler, E. Skutelski, and S. Sela: Role of M3 protein in the adherence and internalization of an invasive *Streptococcus pyogenes* strain by epithelial cells. *FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol* 38, 205-213 (2003)

78. Biswas, I., P. Germon, K. McDade, and J. R. Scott: Generation and surface localization of intact M protein in *Streptococcus pyogenes* are dependent on *sagA*. *Infect Immun* 69, 7029-7038 (2001)

79. Boyle, M. D., R. Raeder, A. Flosdorff, and A. Podbielski: Role of *emm* and *mrp* genes in the virulence of

group A streptococcal isolate 64/14 in a mouse model of skin infection. *J Infect Dis* 177, 991-997 (1998)

80. Pleass, R. J., T. Areschoug, G. Lindahl, and J. M. Woof: Streptococcal IgA-binding proteins bind in the C alpha 2-C alpha 3 interdomain region and inhibit binding of IgA to human CD89. *J Biol Chem* 276, 8197-8204 (2001)

81. Medina, E., G. Molinari, M. Rohde, B. Haase, G. S. Chhatwal, and C. A. Guzman: Fc-mediated nonspecific binding between fibronectin-binding protein I of *Streptococcus pyogenes* and human immunoglobulins. *J Immunol* 163, 3396-3402 (1999)

82. Fagan, P. K., D. Reinscheid, B. Gottschalk, and G. S. Chhatwal: Identification and characterization of a novel secreted immunoglobulin binding protein from group A streptococcus. *Infect Immun* 69, 4851-4857 (2001)

83. Visai, L., S. Bozzini, G. Raucci, A. Toniolo, and P. Speziale: Isolation and characterization of a novel collagenbinding protein from *Streptococcus pyogenes* strain 6414. *J Biol Chem* 270, 347-353 (1995)

84. Boyle, M., J. Hawlitzky, R. Raeder, and A. Podbielski: Analysis of genes encoding two unique type IIa immunoglobulin G-binding proteins expressed by a single group A streptococcal isolate. *Infect Immun* 62, 1336-1347 (1994)

85. Dinkla, K., M. Rohde, W. T. Jansen, E. L. Kaplan, G. S. Chhatwal, and S. R. Talay: Rheumatic fever-associated *Streptococcus pyogenes* isolates aggregate collagen. *J Clin Invest* 111, 1905-1912 (2003)

86. Cleary, P. P., U. Prahbu, J. B. Dale, D. E. Wexler, and J. Handley: Streptococcal C5a peptidase is a highly specific endopeptidase. *Infect Immun* 60, 5219-5223 (1992)

87. Koroleva, I. V., A. Efstratiou, and A. N. Suvorov: Structural heterogeneity of the streptococcal C5a peptidase gene in *Streptococcus pyogenes*. *J Bacteriol* 184, 6384-6386 (2002)

88. Ji, Y., L. McLandsborough, A. Kondagunta, and P. P. Cleary: C5a peptidase alters clearance and trafficking of group A streptococci by infected mice. *Infect Immun* 64, 503-510 (1996)

89. Husmann, L. K., D. L. Yung, S. K. Hollingshead, and J. R. Scott: Role of putative virulence factors of *Streptococcus pyogenes* in mouse models of long-term throat colonization and pneumonia. *Infect Immun* 65, 1422-1430 (1997)

90. Ji, Y., B. Carlson, A. Kondagunta, and P. P. Cleary: Intranasal immunization with C5a peptidase prevents nasopharyngeal colonization of mice by the group A streptococcus. *Infect Immun* 65, 2080-2087 (1997)

91. O'Connor, S. P., D. Darip, K. Fraley, C. M. Nelson, E. L. Kaplan, and P. P. Cleary: The human antibody response

to streptococcal C5a peptidase. J Infect Dis 163, 109-116 (1991)

92. Cleary, P. P., and A. Larkin: Hyaluronic acid capsule: strategy for oxygen resistance in group A streptococci. *J Bacteriol* 140, 1090 - 1097 (1979)

93. Wessels, M. R., and M. S. Bronze: Critical role of the group A streptococcal capsule in pharyngeal colonization and infection in mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 91, 12238-12242 (1994)

94. Wessels, M. R., A. E. Moses, J. B. Goldberg, and T. J. Dicesare: Hyaluronic acid capsule is a virulence factor for mucoid group A streptococci. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 88, 8317 - 8321 (1991)

95. Schmidt, K. H., E. Gunther, and H. S. Courtney: Expression of both M protein and hyaluronic acid capsule by group A streptococcal strains results in a high virulence for chicken embryos. *Med Microbiol Immunol (Berl)* 184, 169-173 (1996)

96. Schrager, H. M., J. G. Rheinwald, and M. R. Wessels: Hyaluronic acid capsule and the role of streptococcal entry into keratinocytes in invasive skin infection. *J Clin Invest* 98, 1954-1958 (1996)

97. Schrager, H. M., S. Alberti, C. Cywes, G. J. Dougherty, and M. R. Wessels: Hyaluronic acid capsule modulates M protein-mediated adherence and acts as a ligand for attachment of group A streptococcus to CD44 on human keratinocytes. *J Clin Invest* 101, 1708-1716 (1998)

98. Cywes, C., and M. R. Wessels: Group A streptococcus tissue invasion by CD44-mediated cell signalling. *Nature* 414, 648-652 (2001)

99. Sierig, G., C. Cywes, M. R. Wessels, and C. D. Ashbaugh: Cytotoxic effects of streptolysin O and streptolysin S enhance the virulence of poorly encapsulated group A streptococci. *Infect Immun* 71, 446-455 (2003)

100. Veasy, L. G., L. Y. Tani, J. A. Daly, K. Korgenski, L. Miner, J. Bale, E. L. Kaplan, J. M. Musser, and H. R. Hill: Temporal association of the appearance of mucoid strains of *Streptococcus pyogenes* with a continuing high incidence of rheumatic fever in Utah. *Pediatrics* 113, e168-172 (2004)

101. Crater, D. L., B. A. Dougherty, and I. Van De Rijn: Molecular characterization of *has*C from an operon required for hyaluronic acid synthesis in group A streptococci. Demonstration of UDP-glucose pyrophosphorylase activity. *J Biol Chem* 270, 28676-28680 (1995)

102. Levin, J. C., and M. R. Wessels: Identification of *csr*R/*csr*S, a genetic locus that regulates hyaluronic acid capsule synthesis in group A streptococcus. *Mol Microbiol* 30, 209-219 (1998)

103. Heath, A., V. J. Dirita, N. L. Barg, and N. C. Engleberg: A two-component regulatory system, CsrR-

CsrS, represses expression of three *Streptococcus pyogenes* virulence factors, hyaluronic acid capsule, streptolysin S, and pyrogenic exotoxin B. *Infect Immun* 67, 5298-5305 (1999)

104. Bernish, B., and I. van de Rijn: Characterization of a two-component system in *Streptococcus pyogenes* which is involved in regulation of hyaluronic acid production. *J Biol Chem* 274, 4786-4793 (1999)

105. Ashbaugh, C. D., S. Alberti, and M. R. Wessels: Molecular analysis of the capsule gene region of group A streptococcus: the *has*AB genes are sufficient for capsule expression. *J Bacteriol* 180, 4955-4959 (1998)

106. Gryllos, I., J. C. Levin, and M. R. Wessels: The CsrR/CsrS two-component system of group A streptococcus responds to environmental Mg²⁺. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 100, 4227-4232 (2003)

107. Chaussee, M. S., R. L. Cole, and J. P. Van Putten: Streptococcal erythrogenic toxin B abrogates fibronectindependent internalization of *Streptococcus pyogenes* by cultured mammalian cells. *Infect Immun* 68, 3226-3232 (2000)

108. Katerov, V., A. Andreev, C. Schalen, and A. A. Totolian: Protein F, a fibronectin-binding protein of *Streptococcus pyogenes*, also binds human fibrinogen: isolation of the protein and mapping of the binding region. *Microbiol* 144, 119-126 (1998)

109. Ma, X., H. Kikuta, N. Ishiguro, M. Yoshioka, T. Ebihara, T. Murai, I. Kobayashi, and K. Kobayashi: Association of the *prt*F1 gene (encoding fibronectinbinding protein F1) and the *sic* gene (encoding the streptococcal inhibitor of complement) with *emm* types of group A streptococci isolated from Japanese children with pharyngitis. *J Clin Microbiol* 40, 3835-3837 (2002)

110. Towers, R. J., P. K. Fagan, S. R. Talay, B. J. Currie, K. S. Sriprakash, M. J. Walker, and G. S. Chhatwal: Evolution of *sfb*I encoding streptococcal fibronectinbinding protein I: horizontal genetic transfer and gene mosaic structure. *J Clin Microbiol* 41, 5398-5406 (2003)

111. Schulze, K., E. Medina, S. R. Talay, R. J. Towers, G. S. Chhatwal, and C. A. Guzman: Characterization of the domain of fibronectin-binding protein I of *Streptococcus pyogenes* responsible for elicitation of a protective immune response. *Infect Immun* 69, 622-625 (2001)

112. Schulze, K., E. Medina, G. S. Chhatwal, and C. A. Guzman: Identification of B- and T-cell epitopes within the fibronectin-binding domain of the SfbI protein of *Streptococcus pyogenes*. *Infect Immun* 71, 7197-7201 (2003)

113. Hanski, E., and M. Caparon: Protein F, a fibronectinbinding protein, is an adhesin of the group A streptococcus *Streptococcus pyogenes*. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 89, 6172-6176 (1992) 114. Hanski, E., P. A. Horwitz, and M. G. Caparon: Expression of protein F, the fibronectin-binding protein of *Streptococcus pyogenes* JRS4, in heterologous streptococcal and enterococcal strains promotes their adherence to respiratory epithelial cells. *Infect Immun* 60, 5119-5125 (1992)

115. Talay, S. R., P. Valentin-Weigand, P. G. Jerlstrom, K. N. Timmis, and G. S. Chhatwal: Fibronectin-binding protein of *Streptococcus pyogenes*: sequence of the binding domain involved in adherence of streptococci to epithelial cells. *Infect Immun* 60, 3837-3844 (1992)

116. Beckert, S., B. Kreikemeyer, and A. Podbielski: Group A streptococcal *rof*A gene is involved in the control of several virulence genes and eukaryotic cell attachment and internalization. *Infect Immun* 69, 534-537 (2001)

117. Fogg, G. C., and M. G. Caparon: Constitutive expression of fibronectin binding in *Streptococcus pyogenes* as a result of anaerobic activation of *rofA*. *J Bacteriol* 179, 6172-6180 (1997)

118. Van Heyningen, T., G. Fogg, D. Yates, E. Hanski, and M. Caparon: Adherence and fibronectin binding are environmentally regulated in the group A streptococci. *Mol Microbiol* 9, 1213-1222 (1993)

119. Jadoun, J., V. Ozeri, E. Burstein, E. Skutelsky, E. Hanski, and S. Sela: Protein F1 is required for efficient entry of *Streptococcus pyogenes* into epithelial cells. *J Infect Dis* 178, 147-158 (1998)

120. Molinari, G., M. Rohde, S. R. Talay, G. S. Chhatwal, S. Beckert, and A. Podbielski: The role played by the group A streptococcal negative regulator Nra on bacterial interactions with epithelial cells. *Mol Microbiol* 40, 99-114 (2001)

121. Talay, S. R., A. Zock, M. Rohde, G. Molinari, M. Oggioni, G. Pozzi, C. A. Guzman, and G. S. Chhatwal: Cooperative binding of human fibronectin to Sfbl protein triggers streptococcal invasion into respiratory epithelial cells. *Cell Microbiol* 2, 521-535 (2000)

122. Molinari, G., M. Rohde, C. A. Guzman, and G. S. Chhatwal: Two distinct pathways for the invasion of *Streptococcus pyogenes* in non-phagocytic cells. *Cell Microbiol* 2, 145-154 (2000)

123. Nyberg, P., M. Rasmussen, U. von Pawel-Rammingen, and L. Bjorck: SpeB modulates fibronectindependent internalization of *Streptococcus pyogenes* by efficient proteolysis of cell-wall-anchored protein F1. *Microbiol* 150, 1559-1569 (2004)

124. Kreikemeyer, B., S. R. Talay, and G. S. Chhatwal: Characterization of a novel fibronectin-binding surface protein in group A streptococci. *Mol Microbiol* 17, 137-145 (1995) 125. Kreikemeyer, B., D. R. Martin, and G. S. Chhatwal: SfbII protein, a fibronectin binding surface protein of group A streptococci, is a serum opacity factor with high serotype-specific apolipoproteinase activity. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* 178, 305-311 (1999)

126. Jaffe, J., S. Natanson-Yaron, M. G. Caparon, and E. Hanski: Protein F2, a novel fibronectin-binding protein from *Streptococcus pyogenes*, possesses two binding domains. *Mol Microbiol* 21, 373-384 (1996)

127. Podbielski, A., M. Woischnik, B. A. Leonard, and K. H. Schmidt: Characterization of *nra*, a global negative regulator gene in group A streptococci. *Mol Microbiol* 31, 1051-1064 (1999)

128. Fogg, G. C., C. M. Gibson, and M. G. Caparon: The identification of *rofA*, a positive-acting regulatory component of *prt*F expression: use of an m gamma delta-based shuttle mutagenesis strategy in *Streptococcus pyogenes*. *Mol Microbiol* 11, 671-684 (1994)

129. Courtney, H. S., Y. Li, J. B. Dale, and D. L. Hasty: Cloning, sequencing, and expression of a fibronectin/fibrinogen-binding protein from group A streptococci. *Infect Immun* 62, 3937-3946 (1994)

130. Courtney, H. S., J. B. Dale, and D. I. Hasty: Differential effects of the streptococcal fibronectin-binding protein, FBP54, on adhesion of group A streptococci to human buccal cells and HEp-2 tissue culture cells. *Infect Immun* 64, 2415-2419 (1996)

131. Kawabata, S., E. Kunitomo, Y. Terao, I. Nakagawa, K. Kikuchi, K. Totsuka, and S. Hamada: Systemic and mucosal immunizations with fibronectin-binding protein FBP54 induce protective immune responses against *Streptococcus pyogenes* challenge in mice. *Infect Immun* 69, 924-930 (2001)

132. Rocha, C. L., and V. A. Fischetti: Identification and characterization of a novel fibronectin-binding protein on the surface of group A streptococci. *Infect Immun* 67, 2720-2728 (1999)

133. Terao, Y., S. Kawabata, E. Kunitomo, J. Murakami, I. Nakagawa, and S. Hamada: Fba, a novel fibronectinbinding protein from *Streptococcus pyogenes*, promotes bacterial entry into epithelial cells, and the *fba* gene is positively transcribed under the Mga regulator. *Mol Microbiol* 42, 75-86 (2001)

134. Terao, Y., S. Kawabata, M. Nakata, I. Nakagawa, and S. Hamada: Molecular characterization of a novel fibronectin-binding protein of *Streptococcus pyogenes* strains isolated from toxic shock-like syndrome patients. *J Biol Chem* 277, 47428-47435 (2002)

135. McLellan, D. G., E. Y. Chiang, H. S. Courtney, D. L. Hasty, S. C. Wei, M. C. Hu, M. A. Walls, J. J. Bloom, and J. B. Dale: Spa contributes to the virulence of type 18 group A streptococci. *Infect Immun* 69, 2943-2949 (2001)

136. Lei, B., L. M. Smoot, H. M. Menning, J. M. Voyich, S. V. Kala, F. R. Deleo, S. D. Reid, and J. M. Musser: Identification and characterization of a novel hemeassociated cell surface protein made by *Streptococcus pyogenes*. *Infect Immun* 70, 4494-4500 (2002)

137. Bates, C. S., G. E. Montanez, C. R. Woods, R. M. Vincent, and Z. Eichenbaum: Identification and characterization of a *Streptococcus pyogenes* operon involved in binding of hemoproteins and acquisition of iron. *Infect Immun* 71, 1042-1055 (2003)

138. Ricci, S., R. Janulczyk, and L. Bjorck: The regulator PerR is involved in oxidative stress response and iron homeostasis and is necessary for full virulence of *Streptococcus pyogenes*. *Infect Immun* 70, 4968-4976 (2002)

139. Jones, C. H., T. C. Bolken, K. F. Jones, G. O. Zeller, and D. E. Hruby: Conserved DegP protease in grampositive bacteria is essential for thermal and oxidative tolerance and full virulence in *Streptococcus pyogenes*. *Infect Immun* 69, 5538-5545 (2001)

140. Rasmussen, M., H. P. Muller, and L. Bjorck: Protein GRAB of *Streptococcus pyogenes* regulates proteolysis at the bacterial surface by binding alpha 2-macroglobulin. *J Biol Chem* 274, 15336-15344 (1999)

141. Barnett, T. C., and J. R. Scott: Differential recognition of surface proteins in *Streptococcus pyogenes* by two sortase gene homologs. *J Bacteriol* 184, 2181-2191 (2002)

142. Toppel, A. W., M. Rasmussen, M. Rohde, E. Medina, and G. S. Chhatwal: Contribution of protein G-related alpha2-macroglobulin-binding protein to bacterial virulence in a mouse skin model of group A streptococcal infection. *J Infect Dis* 187, 1694-1703 (2003)

143. Rasmussen, M., A. Eden, and L. Bjorck: SclA, a novel collagen-like surface protein of *Streptococcus pyogenes*. *Infect Immun* 68, 6370-6377 (2000)

144. Lukomski, S., K. Nakashima, I. Abdi, V. J. Cipriano, B. J. Shelvin, E. A. Graviss, and J. M. Musser: Identification and characterization of a second extracellular collagen-like protein made by group A streptococcus: control of production at the level of translation. *Infect Immun* 69, 1729-1738 (2001)

145. Lukomski, S., K. Nakashima, I. Abdi, V. J. Cipriano, R. M. Ireland, S. D. Reid, G. G. Adams, and J. M. Musser: Identification and characterization of the *scl* gene encoding a group A streptococcus extracellular protein virulence factor with similarity to human collagen. *Infect Immun* 68, 6542-6553 (2000)

146. Xu, Y., D. R. Keene, J. M. Bujnicki, M. Hook, and S. Lukomski: Streptococcal Scl1 and Scl2 proteins form collagen-like triple helices. *J Biol Chem* 277, 27312-27318 (2002)

147. Elsner, A., B. Kreikemeyer, A. Braun-Kiewnick, B. Spellerberg, B. A. Buttaro, and A. Podbielski: Involvement of Lsp, a member of the LraI-lipoprotein family in *Streptococcus pyogenes*, in eukaryotic cell adhesion and internalization. *Infect Immun* 70, 4859-4869 (2002)

148. Hirota, K., H. Kanitani, K. Nemoto, T. Ono, and Y. Miyake: Cross-reactivity between human sialyl Lewis(x) oligosaccharide and common causative oral bacteria of infective endocarditis. *FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol* 12, 159-164 (1995)

149. Munro, J. M., S. K. Lo, C. Corless, M. J. Robertson, N. C. Lee, R. L. Barnhill, D. S. Weinberg, and M. P. Bevilacqua: Expression of sialyl-Lewis X, an E-selectin ligand, in inflammation, immune processes, and lymphoid tissues. *Am J Pathol* 141, 1397-1408 (1992)

150. Berge, A., and U. Sjobring: PAM, a novel plasminogen-binding protein from *Streptococcus pyogenes*. *J Biol Chem* 268, 25417-25424 (1993)

151. Lottenberg, R., C. C. Broder, M. D. Boyle, S. J. Kain, B. L. Schroeder, and R. Curtiss, 3rd: Cloning, sequence analysis, and expression in Escherichia coli of a streptococcal plasmin receptor. *J Bacteriol* 174, 5204-5210 (1992)

152. Pancholi, V., and V. A. Fischetti: A major surface protein on group A streptococci is a glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate-dehydrogenase with multiple binding activity. *J Exp Med* 176, 415-426 (1992)

153. Pancholi, V., and V. A. Fischetti: alpha-enolase, a novel strong plasmin(ogen) binding protein on the surface of pathogenic streptococci. *J Biol Chem* 273, 14503-14515 (1998)

154. Svensson, M. D., U. Sjobring, and D. E. Bessen: Selective distribution of a high-affinity plasminogenbinding site among group A streptococci associated with impetigo. *Infect Immun* 67, 3915-3920 (1999)

155. Winram, S. B., and R. Lottenberg: Site-directed mutagenesis of streptococcal plasmin receptor protein (Plr) identifies the C-terminal Lys334 as essential for plasmin binding, but mutation of the plr gene does not reduce plasmin binding to group A streptococci. *Microbiol* 144, 2025-2035 (1998)

156. Derbise, A., Y. P. Song, S. Parikh, V. A. Fischetti, and V. Pancholi: Role of the C-Terminal Lysine Residues of Streptococcal Surface Enolase in Glu- and Lys-Plasminogen-Binding Activities of Group A Streptococci. *Infect Immun* 72, 94-105 (2004)

157. McKay, F. C., J. D. McArthur, M. L. Sanderson-Smith, S. Gardam, B. J. Currie, K. S. Sriprakash, P. K. Fagan, R. J. Towers, M. R. Batzloff, G. S. Chhatwal, M. Ranson, and M. J. Walker: Plasminogen binding by group A streptococcal isolates from a region of hyperendemicity for streptococcal skin infection and a high incidence of invasive infection. *Infect Immun* 72, 364-370 (2004) 158. Hallas, G., and J. P. Widdowson: The opacity factor of group-A streptococci. *J Med Microbiol* 15, 451-464 (1982)

159. Rakonjac, J. V., J. C. Robbins, and V. A. Fischetti: DNA sequence of the serum opacity factor of group A streptococci: identification of a fibronectin-binding repeat domain. *Infect Immun* 63, 622-631 (1995)

160. Saravani, G. A., and D. R. Martin: Opacity factor from group A streptococci is an apoproteinase. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* 56, 35-39 (1990)

161. Saravani, G. A., and D. R. Martin: Characterisation of opacity factor from group-A streptococci. *J Med Microbiol* 33, 55-60 (1990)

162. Courtney, H. S., D. L. Hasty, Y. Li, H. C. Chiang, J. L. Thacker, and J. B. Dale: Serum opacity factor is a major fibronectin-binding protein and a virulence determinant of M type 2 *Streptococcus pyogenes*. *Mol Microbiol* 32, 89-98 (1999)

163. Courtney, H. S., J. B. Dale, and D. L. Hasty: Mapping the fibrinogen-binding domain of serum opacity factor of group a streptococci. *Curr Microbiol* 44, 236-240 (2002)

164. Katerov, V., P. E. Lindgren, A. A. Totolian, and C. Schalen: Streptococcal opacity factor: a family of bifunctional proteins with lipoproteinase and fibronectinbinding activities. *Curr Microbiol* 40, 149-156 (2000)

165. Oehmcke, S., A. Podbielski, and B. Kreikemeyer: Function of the Fibronectin-Binding Serum Opacity Factor of *Streptococcus pyogenes* in Adherence to Epithelial Cells. *Infect Immun* 72, 4302-4308 (2004)

166. Jeng, A., V. Sakota, Z. Li, V. Datta, B. Beall, and V. Nizet: Molecular genetic analysis of a group A streptococcus operon encoding serum opacity factor and a novel fibronectin-binding protein, SfbX. *J Bacteriol* 185, 1208-1217 (2003)

167. Bisno, A. L., and D. L. Stevens: Streptococcal infections of skin and soft tissues. *N Engl J Med* 334, 240-245 (1996)

168. Courtney, H. S., D. L. Hasty, and J. B. Dale: Serum opacity factor (SOF) of *Streptococcus pyogenes* evokes antibodies that opsonize homologous and heterologous SOF-positive serotypes of group A streptococci. *Infect Immun* 71, 5097-5103 (2003)

169. Rasmussen, M., and L. Bjorck: Proteolysis and its regulation at the surface of *Streptococcus pyogenes*. *Mol Microbiol* 43, 537-544 (2002)

170. Liu, T.-Y., and S. D. Elliott: Streptococcal proteainase: the zymogen to enzyme transformation. *J Biol Chem* 240, 1138-1142 (1965)

171. Chen, C. Y., S. C. Luo, C. F. Kuo, Y. S. Lin, J. J. Wu, M. T. Lin, C. C. Liu, W. Y. Jeng, and W. J. Chuang:

Maturation processing and characterization of streptopain. *J Biol Chem* 278, 17336-17343 (2003)

172. Kapur, V., S. Topouzis, M. W. Majesky, L.-L. Li, M. R. Hamrick, R. J. Hamill, J. M. Patti, and J. M. Musser: A conserved *Streptococcus pyogenes* extracellular cysteine protease cleaves human fibronectin and degrades vitronectin. *Microb Pathog* 15, 327-346 (1993)

173. Yu, C. E., and J. J. Ferretti: Frequency of the erythrogenic toxin B and C genes (*speB* and *speC*) among clinical isolates of group A streptococci. *Infect Immun* 59, 211-215 (1991)

174. von Pawel-Rammingen, U., and L. Bjorck: IdeS and SpeB: immunoglobulin-degrading cysteine proteinases of *Streptococcus pyogenes*. *Curr Opin Microbiol* 6, 50-55 (2003)

175. Lukomski, S., S. Sreevatsan, C. Amberg, W. Reichardt, M. Woischnik, A. Podbielski, and J. M. Musser: Inactivation of *Streptococcus pyogenes* extracellular cysteine protease significantly decreases mouse lethality of serotype M3 and M49 strains. *J Clin Invest* 99, 2574-2580 (1997)

176. Kuo, C. F., J. J. Wu, K. Y. Lin, P. J. Tsai, S. C. Lee, Y. T. Jin, H. Y. Lei, and Y. S. Lin: Role of streptococcal pyrogenic exotoxin B in the mouse model of group A streptococcal infection. *Infect Immun* 66, 3931-3935 (1998)

177. Lukomski, S., C. A. Montgomery, J. Rurangirwa, R. S. Geske, J. P. Barrish, G. J. Adams, and J. M. Musser: Extracellular cysteine protease produced by *Streptococcus pyogenes* participates in the pathogenesis of invasive skin infection and dissemination in mice. *Infect Immun* 67, 1779-1788 (1999)

178. Lukomski, S., E. H. Burns, Jr., P. R. Wyde, A. Podbielski, J. Rurangirwa, D. K. Moore-Poveda, and J. M. Musser: Genetic inactivation of an extracellular cysteine protease (SpeB) expressed by *Streptococcus pyogenes* decreases resistance to phagocytosis and dissemination to organs. *Infect Immun* 66, 771-776 (1998)

179. Burns, E. H., Jr., S. Lukomski, J. Rurangirwa, A. Podbielski, and J. M. Musser: Genetic inactivation of the extracellular cysteine protease enhances in vitro internalization of group A streptococci by human epithelial and endothelial cells. *Microb Pathog* 24, 333-339 (1998)

180. Matsuka, Y. V., S. Pillai, S. Gubba, J. M. Musser, and S. B. Olmsted: Fibrinogen cleavage by the *Streptococcus pyogenes* extracellular cysteine protease and generation of antibodies that inhibit enzyme proteolytic activity. *Infect Immun* 67, 4326-4333 (1999)

181. Woischnik, M., B. A. Buttaro, and A. Podbielski: Inactivation of the cysteine protease SpeB affects hyaluronic acid capsule expression in group A streptococci. *Microb Pathog* 28, 221-226 (2000) 182. Ashbaugh, C. D., and M. R. Wessels: Absence of a cysteine protease effect on bacterial virulence in two murine models of human invasive group A streptococcal infection. *Infect Immun* 69, 6683-6688 (2001)

183. Raeder, R., E. Harokopakis, S. Hollingshead, and M. D. Boyle: Absence of SpeB production in virulent large capsular forms of group A streptococcal strain 64. *Infect Immun* 68, 744-751 (2000)

184. Ashbaugh, C. D., H. B. Warren, V. J. Carey, and M. R. Wessels: Molecular analysis of the role of the group A streptococcal cysteine protease, hyaluronic acid capsule, and M protein in a murine model of human invasive soft-tissue infection. *J Clin Invest* 102, 550-560 (1998)

185. Hytonen, J., S. Haataja, D. Gerlach, A. Podbielski, and J. Finne: The SpeB virulence factor of *Streptococcus pyogenes*, a multifunctional secreted and cell surface molecule with strepadhesin, laminin-binding and cysteine protease activity. *Mol Microbiol* 39, 512-519 (2001)

186. Kazmi, S. U., R. Kansal, R. K. Aziz, M. Hooshdaran, A. Norrby-Teglund, D. E. Low, A. B. Halim, and M. Kotb: Reciprocal, temporal expression of SpeA and SpeB by invasive M1T1 group a streptococcal isolates in vivo. *Infect Immun* 69, 4988-4995 (2001)

187. Kansal, R. G., A. McGeer, D. E. Low, A. Norrby-Teglund, and M. Kotb: Inverse relation between disease severity and expression of the streptococcal cysteine protease, SpeB, among clonal M1T1 isolates recovered from invasive group A streptococcal infection cases. *Infect Immun* 68, 6362-6369 (2000)

188. Kansal, R. G., V. Nizet, A. Jeng, W. J. Chuang, and M. Kotb: Selective modulation of superantigen-induced responses by streptococcal cysteine protease. *J Infect Dis* 187, 398-407 (2003)

189. Eriksson, A., and M. Norgren: Cleavage of antigenbound immunoglobulin G by SpeB contributes to streptococcal persistence in opsonizing blood. *Infect Immun* 71, 211-217 (2003)

190. Collin, M., M. D. Svensson, A. G. Sjoholm, J. C. Jensenius, U. Sjobring, and A. Olsen: EndoS and SpeB from *Streptococcus pyogenes* inhibit immunoglobulin-mediated opsonophagocytosis. *Infect Immun* 70, 6646-6651 (2002)

191. Collin, M., and A. Olsen: Generation of a mature streptococcal cysteine proteinase is dependent on cell wall-anchored M1 protein. *Mol Microbiol* 36, 1306-1318 (2000)

192. Lyon, W. R., C. M. Gibson, and M. G. Caparon: A role for trigger factor and an Rgg-like regulator in the transcription, secretion and processing of the cysteine proteinase of *Streptococcus pyogenes*. *EMBO J* 17, 6263-6275 (1998)

193. Podbielski, A., B. Pohl, M. Woischnik, C. Korner, K. H. Schmidt, E. Rozdzinski, and B. A. Leonard: Molecular characterization of group A streptococcal (GAS) oligopeptide permease (*opp*) and its effect on cysteine protease production. *Mol Microbiol* 21, 1087-1099 (1996)

194. Podbielski, A., and B. A. Leonard: The group A streptococcal dipeptide permease (Dpp) is involved in the uptake of essential amino acids and affects the expression of cysteine protease. *Mol Microbiol* 28, 1323-1334 (1998)

195. Tillet, W. S., L. B. Edwards, and R. L. Garner: Fibronolytic activity of hemolytic streptococci: development of resistance of fibrinolysis following acute hemolytic streptococcus infections. *J Clin Invest* 13, 47 -(1934)

196. Cederholm-Williams, S. A., F. De Cock, H. R. Lijnen, and D. Collen: Kinetics of the reactions between streptokinase, plasmin and alpha 2-antiplasmin. *Eur J Biochem* 100, 125-132 (1979)

197. Malke, H.: Polymorphism of the streptokinase gene: implications for the pathogenesis of post-streptococcal glomerulonephritis. *Zentralbl Bakteriol* 278, 246-257 (1993)

198. Kapur, V., S. Kanjilal, M. R. Hamrick, L. L. Li, T. S. Whittam, S. A. Sawyer, and J. M. Musser: Molecular population genetic analysis of the streptokinase gene of *Streptococcus pyogenes*: mosaic alleles generated by recombination. *Mol Microbiol* 16, 509-519 (1995)

199. Holm, S. E.: The pathogenesis of acute poststreptococcal glomerulonephritis in new lights. *APMIS* 96, 189-193 (1988)

200. Nordstrand, A., M. Norgren, J. J. Ferretti, and S. E. Holm: Streptokinase as a mediator of acute post-streptococcal glomerulonephritis in an experimental mouse model. *Infect Immun* 66, 315-321 (1998)

201. Nordstrand, A., W. M. McShan, J. J. Ferretti, S. E. Holm, and M. Norgren: Allele substitution of the streptokinase gene reduces the nephritogenic capacity of group A streptococcal strain NZ131. *Infect Immun* 68, 1019-1025 (2000)

202. Gray, E. D.: Nucleases of group A streptococci. In: Streptococci and streptococcal diseases Eds: Wannamaker, L. W., and J. M. Matsen, Academic Press, New York 143 -155 (1972)

203. Kaplan, E. L., and B. B. Huew: The sensitivity and specificity of an agglutination test for antibodies to streptococcal extracellular antigens: a quantitative analysis and comparison of the Streptozyme test with the anti-streptolysin O and anti-deoxyribonuclease B tests. *J Pediatr* 96, 367-373 (1980)

204. Hostetler, C. L., K. P. Sawyer, and I. Nachamkin: Comparison of three rapid methods for detection of

antibodies to streptolysin O and DNase B. *J Clin Microbiol* 26, 1406-1408 (1988)

205. Podbielski, A., I. Zarges, A. Flosdorff, and J. Weber-Heynemann: Molecular characterization of a major serotype M49 group A streptococcal DNase gene (*sdaD*). *Infect Immun* 64, 5349-5356 (1996)

206. Virtaneva, K., M. R. Graham, S. F. Porcella, N. P. Hoe, H. Su, E. A. Graviss, T. J. Gardner, J. E. Allison, W. J. Lemon, J. R. Bailey, M. J. Parnell, and J. M. Musser: Group A streptococcus gene expression in humans and cynomolgus macaques with acute pharyngitis. *Infect Immun* 71, 2199-2207 (2003)

207. Sriskandan, S., M. Unnikrishnan, T. Krausz, and J. Cohen: Mitogenic factor (MF) is the major DNase of serotype M89 *Streptococcus pyogenes*. *Microbiol* 146, 2785-2792 (2000)

208. Eriksson, A., B. Eriksson, S. E. Holm, and M. Norgren: Streptococcal DNase B is immunologically identical to superantigen SpeF but involves separate domains. *Clin Diagn Lab Immunol* 6, 133-136 (1999)

209. Iwasaki, M., H. Igarashi, and T. Yutsudo: Mitogenic factor secreted by *Streptococcus pyogenes* is a heat-stable nuclease requiring His122 for activity. *Microbiol* 143, 2449-2455 (1997)

210. Gerlach, D., K. H. Schmidt, and B. Fleischer: Basic streptococcal superantigens (SPEX/SMEZ or SPEC) are responsible for the mitogenic activity of the so-called mitogenic factor (MF). *FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol* 30, 209-216 (2001)

211. McCormick, J. K., and P. M. Schlievert: Toxins and superantigens of group A streptococci. In: Gram-positive pathogens Eds: Fischetti, V. A., R. P. Novick, J. J. Ferretti, D. A. Portnoy, and J. I. Rood, ASM Press, Washington, DC 43-52 (2000)

212. McCormick, J. K., A. A. Pragman, J. C. Stolpa, D. Y. Leung, and P. M. Schlievert: Functional characterization of streptococcal pyrogenic exotoxin J, a novel superantigen. *Infect Immun* 69, 1381-1388 (2001)

213. Muller-Alouf, H., T. Proft, T. M. Zollner, D. Gerlach, E. Champagne, P. Desreumaux, C. Fitting, C. Geoffroy-Fauvet, J. E. Alouf, and J. M. Cavaillon: Pyrogenicity and cytokine-inducing properties of *Streptococcus pyogenes* superantigens: comparative study of streptococcal mitogenic exotoxin Z and pyrogenic exotoxin A. *Infect Immun* 69, 4141-4145 (2001)

214. Smoot, L. M., J. K. McCormick, J. C. Smoot, N. P. Hoe, I. Strickland, R. L. Cole, K. D. Barbian, C. A. Earhart, D. H. Ohlendorf, L. G. Veasy, H. R. Hill, D. Y. Leung, P. M. Schlievert, and J. M. Musser: Characterization of two novel pyrogenic toxin superantigens made by an acute rheumatic fever clone of *Streptococcus pyogenes* associated with multiple disease outbreaks. *Infect Immun* 70, 7095-7104 (2002)

215. Proft, T., P. D. Webb, V. Handley, and J. D. Fraser: Two novel superantigens found in both group A and group C streptococcus. *Infect Immun* 71, 1361-1369 (2003)

216. Tripp, T. J., J. K. McCormick, J. M. Webb, and P. M. Schlievert: The zinc-dependent major histocompatibility complex class II binding site of streptococcal pyrogenic exotoxin C is critical for maximal superantigen function and toxic activity. *Infect Immun* 71, 1548-1550 (2003)

217. Swietnicki, W., A. M. Barnie, B. K. Dyas, and R. G. Ulrich: Zinc binding and dimerization of *Streptococcus pyogenes* pyrogenic exotoxin C are not essential for T-cell stimulation. *J Biol Chem* 278, 9885-9895 (2003)

218. Chatellier, S., N. Ihendyane, R. G. Kansal, F. Khambaty, H. Basma, A. Norrby-Teglund, D. E. Low, A. McGeer, and M. Kotb: Genetic relatedness and superantigen expression in group A streptococcus serotype M1 isolates from patients with severe and nonsevere invasive diseases. *Infect Immun* 68, 3523-3534 (2000)

219. Akesson, P., A. G. Sjoholm, and L. Bjorck: Protein SIC, a novel extracellular protein of *Streptococcus pyogenes* interfering with complement function. *J Biol Chem* 271, 1081-1088 (1996)

220. Fernie-King, B. A., D. J. Seilly, A. Davies, and P. J. Lachmann: Streptococcal inhibitor of complement inhibits two additional components of the mucosal innate immune system: secretory leukocyte proteinase inhibitor and lysozyme. *Infect Immun* 70, 4908-4916 (2002)

221. Frick, I. M., P. Akesson, M. Rasmussen, A. Schmidtchen, and L. Bjorck: SIC, a secreted protein of *Streptococcus pyogenes* that inactivates antibacterial peptides. *J Biol Chem* 278, 16561-16566 (2003)

222. Fernie-King, B. A., D. J. Seilly, C. Willers, R. Wurzner, A. Davies, and P. J. Lachmann: Streptococcal inhibitor of complement (SIC) inhibits the membrane attack complex by preventing uptake of C567 onto cell membranes. *Immunology* 103, 390-398 (2001)

223. Dinulos, J. G., L. Mentele, L. P. Fredericks, B. A. Dale, and G. L. Darmstadt: Keratinocyte expression of human beta defensin 2 following bacterial infection: role in cutaneous host defense. *Clin Diagn Lab Immunol* 10, 161-166 (2003)

224. Hoe, N. P., R. M. Ireland, F. R. Deleo, B. B. Gowen, D. W. Dorward, J. M. Voyich, M. Liu, E. H. Burns, Jr., D. M. Culnan, A. Bretscher, and J. M. Musser: Insight into the molecular basis of pathogen abundance: group A streptococcus inhibitor of complement inhibits bacterial adherence and internalization into human cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 99, 7646-7651 (2002)

225. Lukomski, S., N. P. Hoe, I. Abdi, J. Rurangirwa, P. Kordari, M. Liu, S.-J. Dou, G. G. Adams, and J. M. Musser: Nonpolar inactivation of the hypervariable streptococcal inhibitor of complement gene (*sic*) in seotype

M1 *Streptococcus pyogenes* significantly decreases mouse mucosal colonization. *Infect Immun* 68, 535 - 542 (2000)

226. Matsumoto, M., N. P. Hoe, M. Liu, S. B. Beres, G. L. Sylva, C. M. Brandt, G. Haase, and J. M. Musser: Intrahost sequence variation in the streptococcal inhibitor of complement gene in patients with human pharyngitis. *J Infect Dis* 187, 604-612 (2003)

227. Stockbauer, K. E., D. Grigsby, X. Pan, Y. X. Fu, L. M. Mejia, A. Cravioto, and J. M. Musser: Hypervariability generated by natural selection in an extracellular complement-inhibiting protein of serotype M1 strains of group A streptococcus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 95, 3128-3133 (1998)

228. Hartas, J., and K. S. Sriprakash: *Streptococcus pyogenes* strains containing *emm*12 and *emm*55 possess a novel gene coding for distantly related SIC protein. *Microb Pathog* 26, 25-33 (1999)

229. Brandt, C. M., G. Haase, B. Spellerberg, R. Holland, and R. Lutticken: *drs* (Distantly related sic) gene polymorphisms among *emm*12-type *Streptococcus pyogenes* isolates. *J Clin Microbiol* 41, 1794-1797 (2003)

230. Binks, M., and K. S. Sriprakash: Characterization of a complement-binding protein, DRS, from strains of *Streptococcus pyogenes* containing the *emm*12 and *emm*55 genes. *Infect Immun* 72, 3981-3986 (2004)

231. Shatursky, O., A. P. Heuck, L. A. Shepard, J. Rossjohn, M. W. Parker, A. E. Johnson, and R. K. Tweten: The mechanism of membrane insertion for a cholesterol-dependent cytolysin: a novel paradigm for pore-forming toxins. *Cell* 99, 293-299 (1999)

232. Ginsburg, I.: Mechanisms of cell and tissue injury induced by group A streptococci: relation to poststreptococal sequelae. *J Infect Dis* 126, 294-340 (1972)

233. Limbago, B., V. Penumalli, B. Weinrick, and J. R. Scott: Role of streptolysin O in a mouse model of invasive group A streptococcal disease. *Infect Immun* 68, 6384-6390 (2000)

234. Fontaine, M. C., J. J. Lee, and M. A. Kehoe: Combined contributions of streptolysin O and streptolysin S to virulence of serotype M5 *Streptococcus pyogenes* strain Manfredo. *Infect Immun* 71, 3857-3865 (2003)

235. Meehl, M. A., and M. G. Caparon: Specificity of streptolysin O in cytolysin-mediated translocation. *Mol Microbiol* 52, 1665-1676 (2004)

236. Akao, T., T. Takahashi, and K. Kobashi: Purification and characterization of a peptide essential for formation of streptolysin S by *Streptococcus pyogenes*. *Infect Immun* 60, 4777-4780 (1992)

237. Hryniewicz, W., and J. Pryjma: Effect of streptolysin S on human and mouse T and B lymphocytes. *Infect Immun* 16, 730-733 (1977)

238. Carr, A., D. D. Sledjeski, A. Podbielski, M. D. Boyle, and B. Kreikemeyer: Similarities between complementmediated and streptolysin S-mediated hemolysis. *J Biol Chem* 276, 41790-41796 (2001)

239. Betschel, S. D., S. M. Borgia, N. L. Barg, D. E. Low, and J. C. De Azavedo: Reduced virulence of group A streptococcal Tn916 mutants that do not produce streptolysin S. *Infect Immun* 66, 1671-1679 (1998)

240. Nizet, V., B. Beall, D. J. Bast, V. Datta, L. Kilburn, D. E. Low, and J. C. De Azavedo: Genetic locus for streptolysin S production by group A streptococcus. *Infect Immun* 68, 4245-4254 (2000)

241. Li, Z., D. D. Sledjeski, B. Kreikemeyer, A. Podbielski, and M. D. Boyle: Identification of *pel*, a *Streptococcus pyogenes* locus that affects both surface and secreted proteins. *J Bacteriol* 181, 6019-6027 (1999)

242. Eberhard, T. H., D. D. Sledjeski, and M. D. Boyle: Mouse skin passage of a *Streptococcus pyogenes* Tn917 mutant of *sagA/pel* restores virulence, beta-hemolysis and *sagA/pel* expression without altering the position or sequence of the transposon. *BMC Microbiol* 1, 33 (2001)

243. McIver, K. S., S. Subbarao, E. M. Kellner, A. S. Heath, and J. R. Scott: Identification of *isp*, a locus encoding an immunogenic secreted protein conserved among group A streptococci. *Infect Immun* 64, 2548-2555 (1996)

244. Lei, B., S. Mackie, S. Lukomski, and J. M. Musser: Identification and immunogenicity of group A streptococcus culture supernatant proteins. *Infect Immun* 68, 6807-6818 (2000)

245. von Pawel-Rammingen, U., B. P. Johansson, and L. Bjorck: IdeS, a novel streptococcal cysteine proteinase with unique specificity for immunoglobulin G. *Embo J* 21, 1607-1615 (2002)

246. Lei, B., M. Liu, E. G. Meyers, H. M. Manning, M. J. Nagiec, and J. M. Musser: Histidine and aspartic acid residues important for immunoglobulin G endopeptidase activity of the group A streptococcus opsonophagocytosis-inhibiting Mac protein. *Infect Immun* 71, 2881-2884 (2003)

247. Lei, B., F. R. DeLeo, S. D. Reid, J. M. Voyich, L. Magoun, M. Liu, K. R. Braughton, S. Ricklefs, N. P. Hoe, R. L. Cole, J. M. Leong, and J. M. Musser: Opsonophagocytosis-inhibiting Mac protein of group A streptococcus: identification and characteristics of two genetic complexes. *Infect Immun* 70, 6880-6890 (2002)

248. Lei, B., F. R. Deleo, N. P. Hoe, M. R. Graham, S. M. Mackie, R. L. Cole, M. Liu, H. R. Hill, D. E. Low, M. J. Federle, J. R. Scott, and J. M. Musser: Evasion of human innate and acquired immunity by a bacterial homolog of CD11b that inhibits opsonophagocytosis. *Nat Med* 7, 1298-1305 (2001)

249. Voyich, J. M., D. E. Sturdevant, K. R. Braughton, S. D. Kobayashi, B. Lei, K. Virtaneva, D. W. Dorward, J. M. Musser, and F. R. DeLeo: Genome-wide protective response used by group A streptococcus to evade destruction by human polymorphonuclear leukocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 100, 1996-2001 (2003)

250. Hynes, W. L., L. Hancock, and J. J. Ferretti: Analysis of a second bacteriophage hyaluronidase gene from *Streptococcus pyogenes*: Evidence for a third hyaluronidase involved in extracellular enzymatic activity. *Infect Immun* 63, 3015 - 3020 (1995)

251. Hynes, W. L., A. R. Dixon, S. Walton, and L. J. Aridgides: The extracellular hyaluronidase gene (*hylA*) of *Streptococcus pyogenes. FEMS Microbiol Lett* 184, 109-112. (2000)

252. Hynes, W. L., and J. J. Ferretti: Sequence analysis and expression in *Escherichia coli* of the hyaluronidase gene of *Streptococcus pyogenes* bacteriophage H4489A. *Infect Immun* 57, 533-539 (1989)

253. Hynes, W. L., and S. Walton: Hyaluronidases of Gram-positive bacteria. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* 183, 201-207. (2000)

254. Crowley, N.: Hyaluronidase production by haemolytic streptococci of human origin. *J Pathol Bacteriol* 56, 27-35 (1944)

255. Benchetrit, L. C., C. C. Avelino, and C. M. de Oliveira: Serotypes and extracellular hyaluronidase of group A streptococci. *Rev Microbiol (San Paulo)* 15, 35-38 (1984)

256. Starr, C. R., and N. C. Engleberg (2004) Analysis of an extracellular hyaluronidase (Hyl-) mutant of group A streptococcus (GAS) in a murine model of skin infection. Abstract American Society for Microbiology Annual Meeting, New Orleans, LA.(2004)

257. Watanabe, N.: Antihyaluronidase levels in children with rheumatic fever and other streptococcal infection. *Jap Heart J* 17, 580-591 (1976)

258. Maxted, W. R.: Enhancement of streptococcal bacteriophage lysis by hyaluronidase. *Nature* 170, 1020-1021 (1952)

259. Kjems, E.: Studies on streptococcal bacteriophages. 2. Adsorption, lysogenization, and one-step growth experiments. *Acta Pathol Microbiol Scand* 42, 56-66 (1958)

260. Benchetrit, L. C., E. D. Gray, and L. W. Wannamaker: Hyaluronidase activity of bacteriophages of group A streptococci. *Infect Immun* 15, 527-532 (1977)

261. Baker, J. R., S. Dong, and D. G. Pritchard: The hyaluronan lyase of *Streptococcus pyogenes* bacteriophage H4489A. *Biochem J* 365, 317-322 (2002)

262. Marciel, A. M., V. Kapur, and J. M. Musser: Molecular population genetic analysis of a *Streptococcus pyogenes* bacteriophage-encoded hyaluronidase gene: recombination contributes to allelic variation. *Microb Pathog* 22, 209-217 (1997)

263. Halperin, S. A., P. Ferrieri, E. D. Gray, E. L. Kaplan, and L. W. Wannamaker: Antibody response to bacteriophage hyaluronidase in acute glomerulonephritis after group A streptococcal infection. *J Infect Dis* 155, 253-261 (1987)

264. Halperin, S. A., E. D. Gray, P. Ferrieri, and L. W. Wannamaker: Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay for identification and measurement of antibodies to group A streptococcal bacteriophage. *J Lab Clin Med* 106, 505-511 (1985)

265. Rice, L. B., L. Carias, S. Rudin, C. Vael, H. Goossens, C. Konstabel, I. Klare, S. R. Nallapareddy, W. Huang, and B. E. Murray: A potential virulence gene, $hyl_{\rm Efn}$, predominates in *Enterococcus faecium* of clinical origin. *J Infect Dis* 187, 508-512 (2003)

266. Davis, L., M. M. Baig, and E. M. Ayoub: Properties of extracellular neuraminidase produced by group A streptococcus. *Infect Immun* 24, 780-786 (1979)

267. Savic, D. J., and J. J. Ferretti: Group A streptococci do not produce neuraminidase (sialidase). *Med Microbiol Lett* 3, 358-362 (1994)

268. Pritchard, D. G., and B. Lin: Group B streptococcal neuraminidase is actually a hyaluronidase. *Infect Immun* 61, 3234 - 3239 (1993)

269. Gase, K., J. J. Ferretti, C. Primeaux, and W. M. McShan: Identification, cloning, and expression of the CAMP factor gene (*cfa*) of group A streptococci. *Infect Immun* 67, 4725-4731 (1999)

270. Opdyke, J. A., J. R. Scott, and C. P. Moran, Jr.: A secondary RNA polymerase sigma factor from *Streptococcus pyogenes. Mol Microbiol* 42, 495-502 (2001)

271. Miller, M. B., and B. L. Bassler: Quorum sensing in bacteria. *Annu Rev Microbiol* 55, 165-199 (2001)

272. Hidalgo-Grass, C., M. Ravins, M. Dan-Goor, J. Jaffe, A. E. Moses, and E. Hanski: A locus of group A streptococcus involved in invasive disease and DNA transfer. *Mol Microbiol* 46, 87-99 (2002)

273. Ross, K. F., C. W. Ronson, and J. R. Tagg: Isolation and characterization of the lantibiotic salivaricin A and its structural gene *sal*A from *Streptococcus salivarius* 20P3. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 59, 2014-2021 (1993)

274. Simpson, W. J., N. L. Ragland, C. W. Ronson, and J. R. Tagg: A lantibiotic gene family widely distributed in *Streptococcus salivarius* and *Streptococcus pyogenes*. *Dev Biol Stand* 85, 639-643 (1995)

275. Sahl, H.-G., and G. Bierbaum: Lantibioitcs: biosynthesis and biological activities of uniquely modified peptides from gram-positive bacteria. *Ann Rev Microbiol* 52, 41 - 79 (1998)

276. McAuliffe, O., R. P. Ross, and C. Hill: Lantibiotics: structure, biosynthesis and mode of action. *FEMS Microbiol Rev* 25, 285-308 (2001)

277. Upton, M., J. R. Tagg, P. Wescombe, and H. F. Jenkinson: Intra- and interspecies signaling between *Streptococcus salivarius* and *Streptococcus pyogenes* mediated by SalA and SalA1 lantibiotic peptides. *J Bacteriol* 183, 3931-3938 (2001)

278. Whitehead, N. A., A. M. Barnard, H. Slater, N. J. Simpson, and G. P. Salmond: Quorum-sensing in Gramnegative bacteria. *FEMS Microbiol Rev* 25, 365-404 (2001)

279. Kreikemeyer, B., K. S. McIver, and A. Podbielski: Virulence factor regulation and regulatory networks in *Streptococcus pyogenes* and their impact on pathogen-host interactions. *Trends Microbiol* 11, 224-232 (2003)

280. Federle, M. J., K. S. McIver, and J. R. Scott: A response regulator that represses transcription of several virulence operons in the group A streptococcus. *J Bacteriol* 181, 3649-3657 (1999)

281. Steiner, K., and H. Malke: Dual control of streptokinase and streptolysin S production by the *cov*RS and *fas*CAX two-component regulators in *Streptococcus dysgalactiae* subsp. *equisimilis*. *Infect Immun* 70, 3627-3636 (2002)

282. Dalton, T. L., and J. R. Scott: CovS inactivates CovR and is required for growth under conditions of general stress in *Streptococcus pyogenes*. *J Bacteriol* 186, 3928-3937 (2004)

283. Jadoun, J., O. Eyal, and S. Sela: Role of CsrR, hyaluronic acid, and SpeB in the internalization of *Streptococcus pyogenes* M type 3 strain by epithelial cells. *Infect Immun* 70, 462-469 (2002)

284. Heath, A., A. Miller, V. J. Dirita, and C. N. Engleberg: Identification of a major, CsrRS-regulated secreted protein of Group A streptococcus. *Microb Pathog* 31, 81-89 (2001)

285. Miller, A. A., N. C. Engleberg, and V. J. Dirita: Repression of virulence genes by phosphorylationdependent oligomerization of CsrR at target promoters in *S. pyogenes. Mol Microbiol* 40, 976-990 (2001)

286. Kreikemeyer, B., M. D. Boyle, B. A. Buttaro, M. Heinemann, and A. Podbielski: Group A streptococcal growth phase-associated virulence factor regulation by a novel operon (Fas) with homologies to two-component-type regulators requires a small RNA molecule. *Mol Microbiol* 39, 392-406 (2001)

287. Steiner, K., and H. Malke: *rel*A-Independent amino acid starvation response network of *Streptococcus pyogenes*. *J Bacteriol* 183, 7354-7364 (2001)

288. Chaussee, M. S., D. Ajdic, and J. J. Ferretti: The *rgg* gene of *Streptococcus pyogenes* NZ131 positively influences extracellular SPE B production. *Infect Immun* 67, 1715-1722 (1999)

289. Chaussee, M. S., E. R. Phillips, and J. J. Ferretti: Temporal production of streptococcal erythrogenic toxin B (streptococcal cysteine proteinase) in response to nutrient depletion. *Infect Immun* 65, 1956-1959 (1997)

290. Unnikrishnan, M., J. Cohen, and S. Sriskandan: Growth-phase-dependent expression of virulence factors in an M1T1 clinical isolate of *Streptococcus pyogenes*. *Infect Immun* 67, 5495-5499 (1999)

291. McIver, K. S., and J. R. Scott: Role of *mga* in growth phase regulation of virulence genes of the group A streptococcus. *J Bacteriol* 179, 5178-5187 (1997)

292. Reid, S. D., N. M. Green, G. L. Sylva, J. M. Voyich, E. T. Stenseth, F. R. Deleo, T. Palzkill, D. E. Low, H. R. Hill, and J. M. Musser: Postgenomic analysis of four novel antigens of group A streptococcus: growth phase-dependent gene transcription and human serologic response. *J Bacteriol* 184, 6316-6324 (2002)

293. Medina, E., M. Rohde, and G. S. Chhatwal: Intracellular survival of *Streptococcus pyogenes* in polymorphonuclear cells results in increased bacterial virulence. *Infect Immun* 71, 5376-5380 (2003)

294. Caparon, M. G., and J. R. Scott: Identification of a gene that regulates expression of M protein, the major virulence determinant of group A streptococci. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 84, 8677-8681 (1987)

295. Simpson, W. J., and P. P. Cleary: Expression of M type 12 protein by a group A streptococcus exhibits phase like variation: evidence for coregulation of colony opacity determinants and M protein. *Infect Immun* 55, 2448-2455 (1987)

296. Robbins, J. C., J. G. Spanier, S. J. Jones, W. J. Simpson, and P. P. Cleary: *Streptococcus pyogenes* type 12 M protein gene regulation by upstream sequences. *J Bacteriol* 169, 5633-5640 (1987)

297. Simpson, W. J., D. Lapenta, C. Chen, and P. P. Cleary: Coregulation of type 12 M protein and streptococcal C5a peptidase genes in group A streptococci: evidence for a virulence regulon controlled by the *vir*R locus. *J Bacteriol* 172, 696-700 (1990)

298. McIver, K. S., A. S. Heath, B. D. Green, and J. R. Scott: Specific binding of the activator Mga to promoter sequences of the *emm* and *scpA* genes in the group A streptococcus. *J Bacteriol* 177, 6619-6624 (1995)

299. McLandsborough, L. A., and P. P. Cleary: Insertional inactivation of *virR* in *Streptococcus pyogenes* M49

demonstrates that VirR functions as a positive regulator of ScpA, FcRA, OF, and M protein. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* 128, 45-51 (1995)

300. Kihlberg, B. M., J. Cooney, M. G. Caparon, A. Olsen, and L. Bjorck: Biological properties of a *Streptococcus pyogenes* mutant generated by Tn916 insertion in *mga*. *Microb Pathog* 19, 299-315 (1995)

301. Chen, C., N. Bormann, and P. P. Cleary: VirR and Mry are homologous trans-acting regulators of M protein and C5a peptidase expression in group A streptococci. *Mol Gen Genet* 241, 685-693 (1993)

302. Hytonen, J., S. Haataja, P. Isomaki, and J. Finne: Identification of a novel glycoprotein-binding activity in *Streptococcus pyogenes* regulated by the *mga* gene. *Microbiol* 146, 31-39 (2000)

303. Caparon, M. G., R. T. Geist, J. Perez-Casal, and J. R. Scott: Environmental regulation of virulence in group A streptococci: transcription of the gene encoding M protein is stimulated by carbon dioxide. *J Bacteriol* 174, 5693-5701 (1992)

304. Okada, N., R. T. Geist, and M. G. Caparon: Positive transcriptional control of *mry* regulates virulence in the group A streptococcus. *Mol Microbiol* 7, 893-903 (1993)

305. Podbielski, A., J. A. Peterson, and P. Cleary: Surface protein-CAT reporter fusions demonstrate differential gene expression in the *vir* regulon of *Streptococcus pyogenes*. *Mol Microbiol* 6, 2253-2265 (1992)

306. Perez-Casal, J., M. G. Caparon, and J. R. Scott: Mry, a trans-acting positive regulator of the M protein gene of *Streptococcus pyogenes* with similarity to the receptor proteins of two-component regulatory systems. *J Bacteriol* 173, 2617-2624 (1991)

307. McIver, K. S., A. S. Thurman, and J. R. Scott: Regulation of *mga* transcription in the group A streptococcus: specific binding of *mga* within its own promoter and evidence for a negative regulator. *J Bacteriol* 181, 5373-5383 (1999)

308. McIver, K. S., and R. L. Myles: Two DNA-binding domains of Mga are required for virulence gene activation in the group A streptococcus. *Mol Microbiol* 43, 1591-1601 (2002)

309. Ribardo, D. A., and K. S. McIver: *amr*A encodes a putative membrane protein necessary for maximal exponential phase expression of the Mga virulence regulon in *Streptococcus pyogenes*. *Mol Microbiol* 50, 673-685 (2003)

310. Chaussee, M. S., R. O. Watson, J. C. Smoot, and J. M. Musser: Identification of Rgg-regulated exoproteins of *Streptococcus pyogenes. Infect Immun* 69, 822-831 (2001)

311. Chaussee, M. S., G. L. Sylva, D. E. Sturdevant, L. M. Smoot, M. R. Graham, R. O. Watson, and J. M. Musser:

Rgg influences the expression of multiple regulatory loci to coregulate virulence factor expression in *Streptococcus pyogenes*. *Infect Immun* 70, 762-770 (2002)

312. Granok, A. B., D. Parsonage, R. P. Ross, and M. G. Caparon: The RofA binding site in *Streptococcus pyogenes* is utilized in multiple transcriptional pathways. *J Bacteriol* 182, 1529-1540 (2000)

313. Kreikemeyer, B., S. Beckert, A. Braun-Kiewnick, and A. Podbielski: Group A streptococcal RofA-type global regulators exhibit a strain-specific genomic presence and regulation pattern. *Microbiol* 148, 1501-1511 (2002)

314. Whitehead, K. E., G. M. Webber, and R. R. England: Accumulation of ppGpp in *Streptococcus pyogenes* and *Streptococcus rattus* following amino acid starvation. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* 159, 21-26 (1998)

315. Steiner, K., and H. Malke: Life in protein-rich environments: the *rel*A-independent response of *Streptococcus pyogenes* to amino acid starvation. *Mol Microbiol* 38, 1004-1016 (2000)

316. Biswas, I., and J. R. Scott: Identification of *rocA*, a Positive Regulator of *covR* Expression in the group A streptococcus. *J Bacteriol* 185, 3081-3090 (2003)

317. Crater, D. L., and I. van de Rijn: Hyaluronic acid synthesis operon (*has*) expression in group A streptococci. *J Biol Chem* 270, 18452-18458 (1995)

318. van de Rijn, I.: Streptococcal hyaluronic acid: proposed mechanisms of degradation and loss of synthesis during stationary phase. *J Bacteriol* 156, 1059-1065 (1983)

Key Words: *Streptococcus pyogenes*, Virulence Factors, Regulation, Review

Send Correspondence to: Dr Wayne Hynes, Department of Biological Sciences, Old Dominion University, Norfolk, VA 23529-0266, Tel: 757-683-3613, Fax: 757-683-5283, E-mail: whynes@odu.edu